A PILOT STUDY ON RISK AND PROTECTIVE FACTORS FOR OPIOID OVERDOSE AMONG PEOPLE WHO USE STREET FENTANYL DURING THE COVID-19

PANDEMIC

by

James Sai Him Wong

B.Sc., The University of British Columbia, 2018

A THESIS SUBMITTED IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF

THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF

MASTER OF SCIENCE

in

THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE AND POSTDOCTORAL STUDIES

(Experimental Medicine)

THE UNIVERSITY OF BRITISH COLUMBIA

(Vancouver)

May 2021

© James Sai Him Wong, 2021

The following individuals certify that they have read, and recommend to the Faculty of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies for acceptance, a thesis entitled:

A pilot study on risk and protective factors for opioid overdose among people who use street fentanyl during the COVID-19 pandemic

submitted by	James Sai Him Wong	in partial fulfillment of the requirements for
the degree of	Master of Science	
in	Experimental Medicine	

Examining Committee:

Michael Krausz, Professor, Department of Psychiatry, UBC Supervisor

Christian G. Schütz, Associate Professor, Department of Psychiatry, UBC Supervisory Committee Member

Kerry L. Jang, Professor, Department of Psychiatry, UBC Supervisory Committee Member

Nooshin Nikoo, Clinical Assistant Professor, Department of Family Practice, UBC Additional Examiner

Abstract

North America is in the midst of an opioid overdose epidemic. British Columbia has been particularly impacted by the epidemic, as over 7,000 have died from illicit drug overdoses since the crisis was declared a public health emergency in 2016. These deaths have largely been fueled by the widespread prevalence of illicitly manufactured fentanyl. Moreover, the crisis has now been exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic, as several jurisdictions have experienced record numbers of overdose deaths in 2020. We undertook a narrative review to describe the risk and protective factors for opioid overdose examined in the current literature. While a range of factors have been studied, it remains unclear how factors previously identified in those using heroin, and how novel fentanyl-related factors are influencing the risk of overdose in those using fentanyl. We thereby conducted a cross-sectional pilot study to investigate the risk and protective factors for non-fatal opioid overdose among 36 participants using street fentanyl during the COVID-19 pandemic. We found that 86.1% reported the intentional use of fentanyl, and 47.2% reported having overdosed in the past six months. These findings add to the growing evidence base that more individuals are intentionally using fentanyl, rather than unintentionally using it. Gender, history of opioid overdose, and suicidal ideation were identified as risk factors for recent overdose. Route of administration, receiving opioid agonist treatment, and receiving safe supply were not significantly associated with overdose. This suggests that risk and protective factors previously identified in individuals who use heroin should be re-examined as their contributions to overdose risk may be different in individuals who use fentanyl. Novel factors related to fentanyl and the pandemic should be further investigated to examine their roles in overdose risk. Future studies in this urgently needed area of research will improve the identification of

iii

individuals at risk of overdose, and inform the development of tailored interventions and policies to improve health outcomes in this vulnerable population.

Lay Summary

Over 20,000 Canadians have died from opioid overdoses since 2016. Illicitly manufactured fentanyl has been the main driver of overdose deaths in recent years. The opioid overdose crisis has now been worsened by the COVID-19 pandemic, as record numbers of overdoses were reported throughout Canada in 2020. This thesis explored the risk and protective factors for opioid overdose among individuals who used street fentanyl during the COVID-19 pandemic. From a pilot study, we found that the majority of participants used fentanyl intentionally, and that nearly half reported having overdosed in the past six months. These findings support the growing evidence that more individuals are knowingly using fentanyl. Gender, history of opioid overdose, and suicidal ideation were identified as risk factors for recent overdose. These are potential targets for the development and implementation of interventions to reduce the risks of overdose-related harms and mortality in this vulnerable population.

Preface

The work contained in this thesis was conducted at the Addictions and Concurrent Disorders Research Group at the University of British Columbia and at Vancouver General Hospital. This study was approved by the Behavioural Research Ethics Board of the University of British Columbia (H19-02231).

James Wong and Dr. Michael Krausz, with input from supervisory committee members (Dr. Christian G. Schütz and Dr. Kerry L. Jang), designed the study. James Wong and Jean Westenberg were responsible for data collection. James Wong was responsible for data analysis and writing of the thesis.

Table of Contents

Abstractiii
Lay Summaryv
Prefacevi
Fable of Contents vii
List of Tables xi
List of Abbreviations xii
Acknowledgements xiv
Dedicationxv
Chapter 1: Introduction1
1.1 The Opioid Overdose Crisis
1.2 Aims and Objectives
Chapter 2: Narrative Review4
2.1 Overview
2.2 Substance Use Factors
2.2.1 Type of Opioid
2.2.2 Polysubstance Use
2.2.3 Route of Administration7
2.2.4 History of Overdose
2.2.5 Substance Use Behaviours

4	2.3	Treatment and Harm Reduction Factors	10
	2.3.	1 Opioid Agonist Treament	10
	2.3.2	2 Naloxone	13
	2.3.3	3 Supervised Consumption Services	14
	2.3.4	4 Drug Checking Services	15
	2.3.	5 Harm Reduction Services Disrupted by the COVID-19 Pandemic	15
	2.3.0	6 Safe Supply	16
4	2.4	Psychiatric Factors	17
	2.4.	1 Mental Health Symptoms and Disorders	17
	2.4.2	2 Suicidal Behaviours	19
	2.4.3	3 Social Isolation during the COVID-19 Pandemic	
4	2.5	Social and Structural Factors	
	2.5.	1 Gender	
	2.5.2	2 Ethnicity	
	2.5.3	3 Education, Employment, and Housing	
	2.5.4	4 Correctional Facility Release	
	2.5.	5 Socioeconomic Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic	
-	2.6	Conclusion	
Ch	apter	3: Methods	27
	3.1	Study Aim	
	3.2	Study Setting, Recruiment, and Data Collection	
	3.3	Survey Instrument	
			viii

3.4	Data Analysis	
Chap	oter 4: Results	34
4.1	Socio-Demographic Characteristics	
4.2	2 Non-Fatal Opioid Overdose History	
2	4.2.1 Circumstances of Recent Non-Fatal Opioid Overdose	
4.3	Substance Use	
2	4.3.1 Attitudes and Perspectives towards Fentanyl	
4.4	Treatment History and Harm Reduction Utilization	
4.5	6 Mental Health Characteristics	
4.6	6 Adverse Childhood Experiences	
4.7	Physical Health Characteristics	
4.8	8 Multivaraiable Regression Model	
Chap	oter 5: Discussion	45
5.1	Overview	
5.2	Prevalence of Recent Non-Fatal Opioid Overdose	
5.3	Risk and Protective Factors for Recent Non-Fatal Opioid Overdose	
4	5.3.1 Gender	
4	5.3.2 History of Opioid Overdose	
4	5.3.3 Suicidal Ideation	
4	5.3.4 Route of Administration	
4	5.3.5 Opioid Agonist Treatment	
4	5.3.6 Safe Supply	
5.4	Limitations	
		ix

ŀ	References		
	56	Conclusion	55
	5.5	Future Directions	55

List of Tables

Table 4.1 Socio-Demographic Characteristics	. 34
Table 4.2 Substnace Use Patterns and Behaviours	37
Table 4.3 Safe Supply	40
Table 4.4 Mental Health Characteristics	42
Table 4.5 Adverse Childhood Experiences	42
Table 4.6 Multivariable Logistic Regression Model for Experiencing a Recent Non-Fatal Opio	oid
Overdose among Individals who use Street Fentanyl (n = 35)	44

List of Abbreviations

- ACE adverse childhood experiences
- AHR adjusted hazard ratio
- AOR adjusted odds ratio
- BC British Columbia
- CERB Canadian Emergency Response Benefit
- CI confidence interval
- COVID-19 coronavirus disease 2019
- CPAS Complex Pain and Addiction Service
- HIV human immunodeficiency virus
- iOAT injectable opioid agonist treatment
- IQR interquartile range
- IRR incidence rate ratio
- OAT opioid agonist treatment
- OR odds ratio
- PO prescription opioids
- PTSD post-traumatic stress disorder
- PWID people who inject drugs
- PWUD people who use drugs
- PWUO people who use opioids
- OUD opioid use disorder
- SD-standard deviation

- SEM socioeconomic marginalization
- SHR sub-hazard ratio
- SCS supervised consumption services
- SROM slow-release oral morphine
- SUD substance use disorder
- US United States
- VCH Vancouver Coastal Health
- VGH Vancouver General Hospital

Acknowledgements

I would like to start by offering my sincerest gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. Krausz, for his mentorship throughout the past three years. I was first introduced to the fields of mental health and addictions by Dr. Krausz, and his compassion, dedication, and work has inspired me tremendously. I aim to continue working in these areas both clinically and academically.

Next, I would like to thank Dr. Schütz and Dr. Jang for their guidance and time during the course of this thesis, Dr. Azar and Dr. Mathew for their clinical insights, support, and opportunities they have provided, and Dr. Nikoo and Dr. Choi for their encouragement and support on research methodology and statistics. Thank you Ms. Suen, Mr. Westenberg, and Ms. Kim for providing your assistance on this project, and to all my colleagues in the Addictions and Concurrent Disorders Research Group, thank you for your friendship and support over the years.

To Health Canada's Substance Use and Addictions Program, thank you for funding this project. Thank you to all the participants for your contributions to this research – I have learned immensely from listening to all your stories. I am grateful to the Experimental Medicine Program and the Faculty of Medicine of the University of British Columbia for their financial support.

Lastly, to Mom and Dad, thank you for your unwavering support over countless years, and encouragement to pursue my passions. To Rebecca, thank you for all your love, understanding, and support over the years.

Dedication

To all those who have lost their lives to the overdose crisis and all those who suffer from addiction.

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 The Opioid Overdose Crisis

The opioid overdose epidemic in North America is a significant public health crisis. In Canada, over 20,000 people have died from opioid overdose since 2016.¹ While the crisis in the 2000s and early 2010s was driven by non-medical prescription opioid (PO) and heroin use, the recent surge in overdose deaths is largely attributed to illicitly manufactured synthetic opioids, primarily fentanyl.² In the United States (US) from 2017 to 2018, PO and heroin deaths decreased by 13.5% and 4.1% respectively while synthetic opioid deaths increased by 10%.³⁻⁵ Synthetic opioids were also involved in 67% of all opioid deaths in the US in 2018.⁵ Furthermore, the COVID-19 pandemic has now exacerbated the ongoing overdose crisis as many jurisdictions have experienced record numbers of overdose deaths in 2020. In the US, over 81,000 overdose deaths occurred during the 12 months ending in May 2020, marking the highest number of overdose deaths recorded in a 12-month period.⁶ In Canada, 1,705 opioid overdose deaths occurred from July to September 2020, which was the highest quarterly count since 2016.¹ Of note, the province of British Columbia (BC) has been the epicentre of the epidemic in Canada. In 2020, 1,716 British Columbians died from illicit drug overdoses, marking the province's deadliest year for overdose deaths as nearly five people died per day in BC due to overdose.⁷ With overdose deaths continuing to rise, it is clear that the overdose epidemic is not abating.

Against the backdrop of the rising fatal opioid overdoses, people who use drugs (PWUD) are also experiencing increases in non-fatal opioid overdoses. Non-fatal overdose strongly predicts both subsequent non-fatal and fatal overdoses, and can lead to significant morbidity including cardiac and pulmonary problems, renal failure, and cognitive impairment from

hypoxia.^{8–11} Understanding the risk and protective factors associated with opioid overdose is critical in informing the development of effective overdose prevention strategies and treatment approaches for opioid use disorder (OUD). The majority of previous studies on the correlates of non-fatal overdose have focused on overdoses involving PO and heroin, as little is known about the factors associated with non-fatal overdose among individuals using street fentanyl (also known as illicitly manufactured fentanyl or non-pharmaceutical fentanyl). As fentanyl-involved overdoses continue to increase, there is thus a dire need to understand the rapidly changing risk environment created by the proliferation of fentanyl in the illicit drug supply. With overdoses accelerating during the COVID-19 pandemic, it is also important to examine the links between the pandemic and increased overdose risk. It has been suggested that changed patterns of drug use due to disruptions in the illicit drug trade, impacts to services, and the psychosocial effects of the pandemic have led to the increase in overdoses, but few studies have investigated these factors.

1.2 Aims and Objectives

The overall aim of this thesis is to explore the risk and protective factors for opioid overdose in the midst of the dual public health emergencies of the overdose crisis and COVID-19 pandemic. Chapter 2 is a narrative review where we sought to summarize the current body of literature on the factors associated with overdose. Chapters 3 and 4 respectively describe the methodology and results of a cross-sectional pilot study of individuals using fentanyl in Vancouver, BC during the COVID-19 pandemic, where we aimed to determine the prevalence of non-fatal overdose and characterize its risk and protective factors. Lastly, in Chapter 5, we

discuss the findings of the pilot study, compare them with the existing literature, and outline future areas of research.

Chapter 2: Narrative Review

2.1 Overview

The risk of opioid overdose is influenced by a multitude of biological and behavioural factors, as well as social and structural factors. Much of the existing research has examined these factors in populations using PO and heroin. As the landscape of non-medical opioid use has increasingly shifted towards synthetic opioids, little is known about the factors associated with overdose among individuals who use fentanyl. This narrative review provides an overview of the risk and protective factors for opioid overdose – we highlight studies examining these factors in individuals using fentanyl, and discuss COVID-19-related factors potentially associated with overdose. The review is structured into the following domains: substance use factors, treatment and harm reduction factors, psychiatric factors, and social and structural factors.

2.2 Substance Use Factors

2.2.1 Type of Opioid

The type of opioid used by the individual is associated with the risk of overdose as different opioids have varying levels of potency and duration of action.^{12,13} Heroin carries a high risk of overdose as it is more potent than most PO such as codeine, hydrocodone, and oxycodone.¹⁴ Even more potent is fentanyl, which is 50-100 times more potent than morphine and 25-50 times more potent than heroin. Fentanyl is clinically used as an anesthetic and analgesic and was first developed in 1959. However, since the 1970s, fentanyl has been illicitly manufactured in laboratories, and sold by itself or mixed into other street substances.^{14,15} In a cross-sectional survey conducted among people who inject drugs (PWID) in BC, fentanyl was found to be more strongly associated with recent non-fatal overdose (OR = 4.30; 95% CI = 1.93-

9.58) than heroin injection (OR = 3.04; 95% CI = 1.59-5.80).¹⁶ As the illicit drug market has been increasingly adulterated with fentanyl over the past decade, the growing availability of potent fentanyl analogues, especially carfentanyl, is also particularly alarming.¹⁷ Carfentanyl, an opioid exclusively used for veterinary use with large animals, is associated with an extremely high risk of overdose, due to it being 100 times more potent than fentanyl. In a recent study which reviewed 1,035,923 overdose death records in the US from 1979 to 2019, the 2016-2017 surge and 2018 decline in overdose deaths was found to be associated with the sudden rise and fall of carfentanyl availability.¹⁸ All together, these findings indicate that people who use heroin are exposed to fluctuating variations in drug potency depending on the extent of contamination with fentanyl and fentanyl analogues, thereby increasing adulteration of synthetic opioids, recent drug checking studies have reported that 84.1% to 90.6% of samples expected to be heroin tested positive for fentanyl.^{20,21}

Additionally, the illicit drug market has reportedly become more unpredictable due to disrupted supply chains, border closures, and shut down of overseas drug labs brought by the COVID-19 pandemic.^{22,23} Using electronic medical record data of 14,669 patients from 67 opioid agonist treatment (OAT) clinics in Ontario, fentanyl use among patients increased by 108% from April to September 2020.²⁴ While the increased use may be in part due to pandemic-related stress and anxiety, the results may also be evidence of increased fentanyl presence in the illicit drug market, and that individuals are obtaining drugs from unfamiliar drug networks due to shortages in their usual supply.

2.2.2 Polysubstance Use

Polysubstance (or polydrug) use, the consumption of multiple substances by an individual, is a well-established factor associated with opioid overdose risk. The use of a speedball, a mixture of heroin and cocaine which acts as a depressant and stimulant respectively, places an individual at heightened risk of overdose.²⁵ The individual may experience anxiety, high blood pressure, strong/irregular heartbeat from the stimulant while also experiencing drowsiness and suppression of breathing from the opioid. The risk for overdose increases as the effects of cocaine wear off more quickly than the effects of heroin; fatal slowing of the breathing can occur when the stimulant effects wear off and the full effects of the opioid are subsequently experienced. In a cross-sectional survey of 203 PWUD in Baltimore, Maryland, US, speedball injection was found to be more strongly associated with recent non-fatal overdose (AOR = 2.63, 95% CI = 1.23-5.64) than heroin injection by itself (AOR = 0.13, 95% CI = 0.03-0.49).²⁶ While the use of speedballs is intentional, it is important to note that street fentanyl is increasingly and without users' awareness being mixed into stimulants, resulting in a high risk of overdose and death among individuals who have little to no opioid tolerance.^{27,28} Results from US drug seizure data showed that the presence of fentanyl in cocaine and methamphetamine samples respectively tripled and increased 179% from 2015 to 2016.29

The concurrent use of opioids and benzodiazepines also increases the risk of overdose and death as both types of substances sedate individuals and supress breathing. Over the past two decades, benzodiazepine co-involvement in opioid overdose deaths has become increasingly common. In an epidemiological study drawing on data from 399,230 opioids overdose deaths in the US, benzodiazepine involvement in these deaths increased from 8.7% in 1999 to 21.0% in 2017.³⁰ For PWUD who are not intentionally using opioid and benzodiazepines together, their

synergistic effects still pose a threat to them due to the volatility and adulteration of the illicit drug market. Recent Canada-wide drug checking reports have reported that increasing numbers of drugs samples through to be opioids unexpectedly contain benzodiazepines and benzodiazepine analogues, particularly etizolam, flualprazolam, and flubromazolam.³¹ Moreover, novel adulterants such as xylazine (a central nervous system depressant related to clonidine) and synthetic cannabinoids have been detected in drug samples expected to be heroin/fentanyl.^{32,33} These findings are concerning as these substances do not respond to naloxone.

2.2.3 Route of Administration

Another well-studied factor associated with overdose risk is route of administration of the opioid. A high bioavailability, which is the fraction of the drug reaching the systemic circulation, generally indicates a high absorption rate and thus increased overdose risk.³⁴ Bioavailability is influenced by the route of administration, the dose of the drug taken, and the purity of the drug. Assuming that the dose and purity remain constant, the intravenous route (injecting into vein) carries the highest risk of overdose, followed by intramuscular (injecting into muscle), inhalation (smoking, chasing), intranasal (snorting), and lastly oral. As a result, the majority of interventions from health agencies and governments has focused on injection drug use, while overdoses and deaths attributed to other routes have received less attention and resources.³⁵ However, over the years, there have been a number of reports of individuals transitioning from injection to non-injection drug use in cities across the US and other countries like Amsterdam, Brazil, and Malaysia.³⁶ The prevalence of smoking is also apparent in BC – since 2017, smoking has been the most common mode of consumption identified in illicit drug overdose deaths.³⁷

From 2016 to 2019, injection decreased from 37% to 25% while smoking increased from 28% to 40%.

As the illicit drug supply becomes increasingly adulterated with fentanyl, fentanyl analogues, and other substances, it is possible that routes of administration which have been traditionally considered to be safer than injection may not in fact be that much safer. For instance, the risk of overdose from smoking carfentanyl may still be quite high as it is 100 times more potent than fentanyl.

2.2.4 History of Overdose

Having a history of overdose is known to be strongly associated with the risk of subsequent overdose. Several longitudinal cohort studies have demonstrated this association. In an Australian study which followed 413 heroin users for 11 years, those who had overdosed in the past 12 months were significantly more likely to have previously overdosed (OR = 10.37; 95% CI = 1.38-78.08).³⁸ Among a cohort of 1829 PWUD followed for 14 years in Vancouver, having a history of overdose was strongly associated with reporting an overdose in the past six months (AOR = 3.41; 95% CI = 2.83-4.12).³⁹

2.2.5 Substance Use Behaviours

It has been found that certain drug use behaviours increase the risk of opioid overdose. Using opioids in the absence of witnesses increases overdose risk as there are no individuals around to monitor one another, carry out resuscitation procedures, and contact emergency services.³⁴ In times of the COVID-19 pandemic, the primary way to reduce viral transmission has been limiting person to person contact. Jurisdictions around the world have implemented lockdowns to increase physical isolation and slow down COVID-19 transmission; governments and public health officials have instructed the public to practice physical distancing and limit activities outside home. PWUD may thereby be conflicted on whether to use alone, which may decrease risk of COVID-19 exposure but increase overdose risk, or to use with others, which may increase risk of COVID-19 exposure but decrease overdose risk.

Even though fentanyl is the drug most involved in overdose deaths and it continues to proliferate in communities across North America, the links between overdose risk and fentanyl-related behaviours and attitudes remain under-studied.⁴⁰ Few studies have examined how PWUD have viewed and responded to the increase of fentanyl in the illicit drug supply. A recent study of 432 people who use opioids (PWUO) in New Jersey from 2018 to 2019 found that nearly all participants (95%) have heard of fentanyl, most (80%) believed that it was a dangerous drug, and 40% used fentanyl.⁴¹ In another study of 308 PWUO from three US cities in 2017, participants who preferred fentanyl to other opioids were more likely to have a history of overdose.⁴²

The COVID-19 pandemic may also encourage changes to higher-risk drug use behaviours increase the risk of overdose. For instance, PWUD may stockpile their drug of choice to avoid withdrawal, however, this could increase the likelihood of an overdose if the individual consumes a larger amount than usual.⁴³ If the supply from their usual dealer becomes limited, PWUD may turn to another dealer which could provide them with a different 'batch,' potentially increasing their chances of overdosing. Additionally, if their drug of choice becomes unavailable, PWUD may turn to other substances, which may result in an overdose due to unfamiliarity with the new substance.⁴⁴ As no studies have examined the associations between these COVID-19 driven behaviours and overdose risk, there is a need to explore this area in future research.

2.3 Treatment and Harm Reduction Factors

2.3.1 Opioid Agonist Treatment

OAT is currently the most effective treatment for OUD. It involves a range of PO medications to reduce illicit opioid use, decreasing craving and withdrawal symptoms, improve health and social functioning, and prevent overdose and death.⁴⁵ In Canada, the primary OAT medications are buprenorphine which is the recommended first-line treatment, methadone as the second-line option, and slow-release oral morphine (SROM) when the first two options have been deemed to be ineffective or contraindicated.⁴⁶

The protective effects of OAT against overdose have been well-demonstrated in the literature. In a longitudinal cohort study which followed 1,587 PWID in Vancouver for 8 years, participation in methadone treatment was found to have a strong protective effect against non-fatal overdose (AOR = 0.51; 95% CI = 0.44-0.59).⁴⁷ In another 10-year cohort study of 11,199 patients from substance use disorder (SUD) treatment facilities in Denmark, patients receiving buprenorphine had a lower risk of non-fatal overdose (SHR = 0.75; 95% CI = 0.62-0.91) than those in non-pharmacological treatment.⁴⁸

There has been a growing body of research suggesting that buprenorphine carries a greater safety profile than methadone in terms of overdose risk as it exhibits a ceiling effect on respiratory depression – the effects of buprenorphine plateau even when an individual takes more of the medication.^{49,50} An Australian study of 5646 OUD patients showed that buprenorphine was protective against overdose with 9.25 non-fatal overdose admissions for every fatal overdose, compared to 6.77 for methadone; buprenorphine also had significantly fewer non-fatal opioid overdose admissions than methadone (p = 0.018).⁵¹ Another study in the United Kingdom

involving over 19 million prescriptions over a 6-year period found that buprenorphine was six times safer than methadone regarding fatal overdose risk.⁵²

Despite the superior safety profile of buprenorphine over methadone, it may not be suitable for all patients due to contraindications, side effects, and patient experiences and preferences. For patients with more severe OUD, buprenorphine may be unsuccessful in reducing withdrawal symptoms and methadone may instead be preferred. Methadone generally has higher treatment retention than buprenorphine so it is recommended over buprenorphine/naloxone for patients who are at high risk of attrition. Given that patients may not benefit from these two mainstay treatments, there is an urgent need to expand OAT options in order to optimize treatment for all patients with OUD. SROM has been increasingly and successfully used in Canada as a third-line option and in several European countries.^{53,54} Emerging evidence suggests that SROM has similar efficacy to methadone in terms of street opioid suppression and retention, and also a superior safety profile compared to methadone; however, several systematic reviews have concluded that the clinical studies evaluating SROM had relatively small sample sizes.^{55–57}

Furthermore, injectable OAT (iOAT) with either diacetylmorphine (prescription heroin) or hydromorphone is available in Canada and some European countries for patients with severe OUD who are refractory to oral OAT. Clinical trials of diacetylmorphine have demonstrated reductions in street drug use, criminal activity, and involvement in sex work, as well as improving treatment retention and overall health and wellbeing for individuals who have not benefitted from other OAT options.^{58–60} Although there were significantly more overdose events reported in the diacetylmorphine group compared to the methadone and hydromorphone groups in these clinical trials, diacetylmorphine is an effective, safe treatment for patients with severe,

treatment-refractory OUD when monitored by a health care team. As iOAT is a logistically and resource-intensive option for patients and there are stringent government regulatory barriers impeding its expansion, these two medications unfortunately still remain a limited option in Canada.

As OAT medications were developed prior to the ubiquity of illicit, non-pharmaceutical fentanyl, its effectiveness is unclear among individuals using fentanyl. There have been no clinical trials and only observational studies evaluating OAT for this population.^{61,62} With buprenorphine, recent studies have reported that people using fentanyl have experienced more frequent instances of precipitated withdrawal and difficultly with the induction process compared to people using heroin.^{63,64} As fentanyl and its analogs are far more potent than heroin and have higher affinity for mu-opioid receptors, higher doses of buprenorphine may be needed for effective treatment.^{65,66} However, other studies have suggested that OAT has remained effective among fentanyl-using individuals. In a qualitative study among PWUO exposed to fentanylcontaminated heroin, participants reported actively seeking out a buprenorphine/naloxone prescriber and found the medication to be effective for them.⁶⁷ A study which compared sixmonth buprenorphine retention rates between fentanyl-positive and heroin-positive patients did not find any significant differences in retention, but the fentanyl positive group did have a lower abstinence rate at the six-month follow-up.⁶⁸ In two studies examining the outcomes of methadone treatment in patients exposed to fentanyl, it was found that there were high abstinence rates during six-month and twelve-month follow-up periods and no deaths for those who remaining in treatment.^{69,70} Interestingly, a population-based cohort study of over 55,000 individuals on OAT from 1996 to 2018 in BC reported that the relative risk of all-cause mortality off OAT was higher after the introduction of fentanyl in the illicit drug supply.⁷¹ This suggests

that the protective effect of OAT on mortality increased as fentanyl became more prevalent in BC. As fentanyl-involved overdoses and deaths continue to rise, further research is urgently needed to investigate the effects of OAT among fentanyl-using individuals in order to optimize treatment success.

With the overdose crisis now being compounded by the COVID-19 pandemic, concerns have been raised that it has been become more difficult for PWUD to access OAT which in turn may increase their risk of overdose during these dual crises.⁷² Qualitative studies of PWUD from across Canada found patients reporting difficulty accessing OAT due to reduction in operation hours at OAT clinics and therefore the inability to receive the medications for multiple days; some expressed frustration with having to discontinue and/or start the induction process multiple times which affected their opioid tolerance levels.^{73–75} Additionally, a US study of 1,148 patients with SUDs found that 67% of individuals who overdosed during the pandemic reported disruptions in their SUD treatment.⁷⁶ They also found that individuals experiencing these treatment disruptions had four times the odds of having overdosed. In response, there has been a growing number of approaches and policy changes implemented to improve treatment access during the COVID-19 pandemic, such as prescribing OAT through telemedicine and the temporary removal of legal and regulatory barriers to OAT.^{77,78} As it is critical that PWUD receive OAT without interruption during the pandemic, further studies should aim to improve the availability and accessibility of this life-saving treatment.

2.3.2 Naloxone

Along with OAT, evidence-based harm reduction programs and services should be offered to all patients with OUD.⁷⁹ Harm reduction is an approach which aims to minimize the

negative health and social consequences of substance use. It has been shown to significantly reduce substance-related harms, including transmission of HIV and Hepatitis C, and overdose deaths.⁸⁰ One primary harm reduction intervention is the use of naloxone, an opioid antagonist medication which prevents death during an opioid overdose.³⁴ Community-based provision of naloxone through take-home naloxone programs have been implemented throughout the world, and several systematic reviews have shown their effectiveness in reducing overdose mortality among PWUD.^{81,82} However, when tending overdoses involving fentanyl and other highly potent opioids, recent studies have reported that higher initial and cumulative doses of naloxone are needed to reverse them.^{83,84}

2.3.3 Supervised Consumption Services

Supervised consumption services (SCS), another type of harm reduction intervention, are facilities where PWUD are provided sterile injecting equipment to inject pre-obtained substances under the supervision of staff trained to respond to overdoses.⁸⁵ Additionally, SCS often provide education of safer drug use practices and referrals to health and social services. As the primary function of SCS is to prevent mortality, few studies have examined whether SCS use has an effect on non-fatal overdose risk. On the one end, it is thought that SCS use reduces overdose risk as PWUD do not need to rush injections and are provided safer drug use education.⁸⁶ On the other end, it has been hypothesized that PWUD may offset their reduced fatal overdose risk by partaking in riskier behaviours such as consuming larger or higher potency doses.⁸⁷ The current literature, while limited to only two studies, does suggest that more frequent SCS use does not increase non-fatal overdose risk.^{88,89} Nevertheless, non-fatal overdoses were common among

clients in these studies, which underscore the need to prevent non-fatal overdose and related morbidity in this population.

2.3.4 Drug Checking Services

Drug checking services are harm reduction interventions allowing PWUD to determine the contents of the substances they bring in so they can avoid consuming unknown and potentially dangerous adulterants.⁹⁰ While these initiatives first emerged in the party drug scene of Europe in the 1990s, they have grown in popularity in the fentanyl era as a strategy to reduce overdose morbidity and mortality in Canada. A recent study examining 1,411 drug checks at Insite, Canada's first SCS, from 2016-2017 found that 36% of participants planned to reduce their drug use and 11% planned to dispose of their drug.²¹ Among all participants, intended dose reduction was significantly associated with a lower odd of overdose (OR = 0.41; 95% CI = 0.18-0.89). Although there have been no published studies directly examining the association between drug checking service use and overdose, recent studies found that willingness to use fentanyl test strips is high among PWUD regardless of whether they have overdosed or not.^{91,92} Future research could examine if positive drug checking results lead to reductions in overdose risk behaviours.

2.3.5 Harm Reduction Services Disrupted by the COVID-19 Pandemic

Harm reduction programs and services have been disrupted by the COVID-19 pandemic through reductions in services and or shutdowns. In a qualitative study conducted with PWUD throughout Canada, more than half of participants who used these services identified negative changes in service delivery during the pandemic.⁷³ They reported reduced physical capacity, long

wait times, and limited harm reduction supplies at SCS. Some reported that SCS were completely closed, which impacted their ability to reduce overdose risk. A US study of 1148 patients with SUDs found that individuals unable to access naloxone and syringes were more likely to have overdosed during the pandemic (OR = 7.88; OR = 10.1).⁷⁶ Additionally, an International Society of Addiction Medicine survey conducted among 177 addiction medicine professionals across 77 countries reported that harm reduction services were reduced in 41% of the countries.⁹³ Further research is needed to investigate the pathways in which COVID-19related disruptions in harm reduction services have impacted overdose risk.

2.3.6 Safe Supply

In March 2020, a unique province-sanctioned 'safe supply' program in BC was implemented in response to the dual public health emergencies of the overdose crisis and COVID-19 pandemic⁹⁴. The tenet of safe supply is that the regulated provision of legal pharmaceutical-grade 'safe supply' medications as alternatives to street fentanyl will help to decrease overdose risk and support physical distancing, reducing the risk of COVID-19 transmission⁹⁵. Safe supply is different from OAT as therapeutic doses of OAT medications do not elicit mind/body altering properties that street drugs and safe supply medications have. For individuals with OUD, hydromorphone and sustained-release oral morphine tablets are the current safe supply medications offered.

Currently, the evidence base for safe supply is limited. Since 2019, a safe supply pilot program has been operating at a Vancouver SCS since 2019, where hydromorphone tablets are provided to PWUD and they are able to administer these tablets under nurse supervision.^{96,97} There have been two publications on this program – one discussed the barriers and facilitators of

the program's implementation while the other was a qualitative study of 42 clients where outcomes of reduced drug use, decreased overdose risk, and improved health and well-being were reported.^{96,97} While the preliminary evidence of safe supply is promising, there have been anecdotal reports from physicians concerned with the diversion of safe supply medications and its subsequent harms (e.g. worsening and development of SUD among PWUD and opioid naïve individuals), and also reports of physicians reluctant to prescribe these medications.^{98–100}

While the safe supply program in BC has been rolled out for over a year, there has been no published literature examining its impacts. A BC-wide project evaluating the program through mixed-methods approaches and analysis of surveillance and administrative data is underway.^{101,102} Given the potential benefits and of harms of safe supply, evaluation of the program and its outcomes is urgently needed.

2.4 Psychiatric Factors

2.4.1 Mental Health Symptoms and Disorders

Individuals with OUD have high rates of co-occurring mental illness. A study using nationally representative 2015-2017 survey data of 170,3000 adults with OUD in the US found that 64.3% (95% CI: 60.4%–67.9%) of these individuals had a past-year mental illness.¹⁰³ A recent analysis by the Public Health Agency of Canada, which examined 10,082 OUD hospitalizations across the country (excluding Quebec) from 2018-2019, reported similar rates of mental illness, as 56% of the OUD hospitalizations had a co-diagnosis of a mental disorder.¹⁰⁴ Additionally, it has been found that psychiatric comorbidities can contribute to increased risk of mortality and poorer health-related quality of life among individuals with OUD.^{105,106} As psychiatric illnesses can exacerbate OUD and also worsen treatment outcomes, it is

recommended that individuals with concurrent mental health and SUDs receive treatment for both disorders simultaneously, however, very few are able to access the treatments for both.^{107–} ¹⁰⁹ While a range of mental illnesses have been found to be common among PWUO, mood and anxiety disorders appear to be the most prevalent.^{104,110}

Psychiatric symptoms and disorders can also increase the risk of opioid overdose. In a study of 368 PWUO in Boston, those with severe depression were more likely to have reported a recent overdose (OR = 2.46; 95% CI = 1.24-4.89), as were those with post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) (OR = 2.27; 95% CI = 1.37-5.60), and those with psychosis (OR = 2.39; 95% CI = 1.10-5.15).¹¹¹ Similarly, in a recent study of 432 PWUO in New Jersey from 2018-2019, those with a history of PTSD were more likely to have recently overdosed (AOR = 3.84; 95% CI = 1.41 - 10.46).⁴¹ A meta-analysis on the association between depression and non-fatal overdoses among people using illicit drugs found that those with depression were 50% more likely to have a history of overdose compared to those without depression.¹¹² It has been hypothesized that individuals with psychiatric disorders use substances to relieve emotional suffering in order to ease or self-medicate the symptoms of their disorders.¹¹³ Although mental health disorders often co-occur in individuals with OUD, a high proportion of these individuals do not receive the proper care, and relatively little research has been devoted to these concurrent conditions in the wake of the opioid overdose crisis.¹¹⁴ It is thus crucial to better facilitate access to integrated. tailored interventions for this population as addressing concurrent mental health and substance use disorders can reduce overdose risk, improve morbidity and mortality outcomes.

2.4.2 Suicidal Behaviours

Opioid-using individuals commonly experience both suicide attempts and unintentional overdoses, as 20 to 30% of individuals with OUD report a history of both suicide attempt and unintentional overdose.^{115,116} Additionally, suicidal behaviour (ideation, attempts and completed suicide) and opioid overdose share multiple common risk factors including polysubstance use, injection drug use, and depression.^{117,118} A major challenge has been the difficulty in differentiating unintentional (accidental) and intentional (suicide) overdoses. Traditionally, research examining heroin-using individuals have reported that only around 10% overdose intentionally.^{115,116} However, these studies assessed the intention of overdose events dichotomously, that is either intentional or unintentional. There has been growing evidence indicating that suicide intentionality is instead dimensional, with suicidal motivations falling along a continuum of severity throughout time.¹¹⁹ When asking participants of their frequency and intensity of ratings of desire to die using a continuous scale, Connery et al¹¹⁸ reported than nearly 60% of 54 individuals with OUD expressed some desire to take their lives before their most recent overdose. This suggests that suicidal behaviours in the OUD population are far more prevalent than previously thought.

Despite the prevalence of suicidal behaviours among opioid-using individuals, there have been few studies assessing the associations between these behaviours and overdose. Richer et al^{120} found that street youth who endorsed suicidal ideation were nearly twice as likely to have experienced an unintentional non-fatal overdose than those without suicidal ideation (AOR = 1.88; 95% CI = 1.23–2.54). Hakansson et al^{121} reported that a history of suicide was a risk factor for non-fatal overdose (AOR = 1.92; 95% CI 1.40-2.63), however, the study did not delineate the overdose intent. The studies assessed the suicidal behaviours dichotomously, so if they were

instead assessed dimensionally, it is possible that stronger associations would have been observed. Overall, our understanding of the complex links between overdose and suicide remains limited; there is an urgent need to further investigate these associations in order to improve the prevention of both overdose and suicide.

2.4.3 Social Isolation during the COVID-19 Pandemic

The effects of social isolation related to the COVID-19 pandemic could disproportionately impact the mental health of individuals with OUD who have high rates of mental health problems and psychological trauma.¹²² Social isolation is known to negatively affect mental health and exacerbate symptoms of mental health disorders.¹²³ A recent Canadawide qualitative study found that physical distancing and social isolation worsened the mental health and wellbeing of PWUD, and they experienced increased feelings of fear and anxiety due to the pandemic.¹²⁴ In an Austrian study, Yazdi et al¹²⁵ found that from a sample of 127 patients with alcohol use disorder, 53.5% of individuals experienced negative emotions (e.g. depression, fear, anxiety) due to the pandemic, and these individuals were more likely to relapse than those who did not experience these emotions. Further studies could investigate whether mental health problems caused and exacerbated by the pandemic increase the risk of overdose among PWUD.

2.5 Social and Structural Factors

2.5.1 Gender

In addition to the biological and behavioural correlates aforementioned, opioid overdose risk is influenced by social and structural factors. Demographic characteristics, such as gender and ethnicity, have been found to be associated with opioid overdose risk, as studies have demonstrated an increased risk of overdose among men, white individuals, and indigenous individuals.¹²⁶

More men than women have been dying from opioid overdoses – from 2016 to 2019, men accounted for 70-74% and 67-69% of overdose deaths in Canada and the US respectively.^{1,127} Some studies have also demonstrated male gender to be a risk factor for opioid overdose. Havens et al¹²⁸ found male gender was associated with an increased likelihood of lifetime non-fatal overdose (IRR = 1.72; 95% CI = 1.06-2.81) among 400 individuals using heroin or PO to get high. Similarly, among 432 individuals using heroin/fentanyl, Kline et al⁴¹ reported those who had recently overdosed, compared to those who had never overdosed, were more likely to male (AOR = 4.04; 95% CI = 1.48-11.05). In a prospective study of nearly 3,000 participants with SUDs (primarily crack/cocaine, opioids) in the US, men were more likely to have experienced a recent non-fatal overdose than women (AOR = 1.91; 95% CI = 1.13-3.22).¹²⁹

Additionally, some studies have examined the reasons for differences in overdose risk between men and women. Some research has found that compared to women, men are more likely to inject and use larger amounts of street opioids, which can contribute to heightened overdose risk.¹³⁰ Moreover, previous studies have shown how masculinity norms, such as reluctance to seek medical help, impulsivity, risk-taking, toughness, and stoicism, can impact the health and wellbeing of men.^{131–133} It has been suggested that such norms play a role in increased street opioid use and overdose risk among men, but research in this area is limited. A recent qualitative study in Ireland reported that street drug use among men was associated with machoism, which helped with their socialization and sense of belonging in their social circles.¹³⁴

Aside from the sociocultural factors contributing to overdose risk, factors related to biological sex may also play a role. Estrogens and androgens differentially affect how men and

women perceive and modulate pain.^{135,136} As pain is a risk factor for overdose, sex differences in pain may lead to differences in overdose risk between men and women.¹³⁷ Moreover, positron emission tomography imaging studies have demonstrated sex differences in opioid receptors in humans. In a study with healthy human participants, mu-opioid receptor binding was found to be higher in several brain regions in females compared to men.¹³⁸ These findings suggest that the efficacy of drugs targeting opioid receptors differ between men and women, and warrant further investigation.

Given the gaps in understanding the relationship between sex, gender, and overdose, there is a critical need for further studies on the biological sex differences and gendered social and structural conditions that affect overdose risk so evidence-based, interventions can be catered for both men and women.

2.5.2 Ethnicity

Regrading ethnicity, it was found that the highest rates of opioid deaths in US metropolitan areas occurred among white people, but death rates were seen to have significantly increased among nearly all ethnic groups in recent years, particularly among black people.¹³⁹ In Canada, there appears to be limited population-level data on the ethnicity make-up of individuals who have died from overdose¹. However, there has been special attention paid to First Nations populations as they traditionally have high rates of problematic substance use compared to other ethnicities. In both BC and Alberta, indigenous people are five times more likely to experience an opioid overdose than non-indigenous people, and three times more likely to die from an opioid overdose.^{140,141} In BC, it has also been recently reported that overdose deaths among South Asians have been rapidly increasing.¹⁴² Future research should continue to examine the

links between ethnicity and overdose, and culturally tailored treatment and care is much needed to target the needs of all ethnic groups experiencing high rates of overdose.

2.5.3 Education, Employment, and Housing

Educational attainment, employment status, housing status have also been found to be associated with the risk for overdose. A recent systematic review which included studies published between 2000 and 2018 examined the role of socioeconomic marginalization (SEM) on opioid overdose.¹⁴³ Six of the eight studies found that higher levels of educational attainment were associated with lower rates of overdose. The relationships between employment status and overdose, and also between housing status and overdose, appeared to be less clear, as some studies did not find conclusive evidence to support these associations. In studies which did find significant associations, higher levels of unemployment, homelessness, and lower housing prices were associated with higher overdose rates.

In the Vancouver Coastal Health (VCH) region of BC, nearly half (47%) of illicit drug overdose deaths between 2018 and 2021 occurred in 'other residences' which include social/supportive housing, single room occupancy hotels, shelters, and hotels.¹⁴⁴ Factors relating to SEM are believed to elevate overdose risk as the chronic stress stemming from social exclusion and inequality promotes stress responses, worsening overall health.¹⁴⁵ The review which also examined other factors including income and health insurance concluded that there were strong associations in the hypothesized direction, that is increased SEM was associated with increased overdose risk. However, it also revealed that the evidence base is overall lacking as many studies had limited validity.

The findings from these studies on SES indicate that it is important to further explore the deep social and structural roots of the overdose crisis, which have been overshadowed by the focus on risk factors solely related to substances.¹⁴⁶ Initiatives aiming to decrease SEM among individuals at risk of overdose are much needed to address the overdose epidemic.

2.5.4 Correctional Facility Release

It is well-established that individuals recently released from a correctional facility are at a high risk of overdose. This is because reduced opioid tolerance due to reductions in use during incarceration and subsequent relapse to opioid use increase the risk of overdose when transitioning to the community.¹⁴⁷ In fact, opioid overdose mortality is the leading cause of deaths among individuals released from a correctional facility.¹⁴⁸ Several epidemiological studies and reviews have demonstrated the high risk of both non-fatal and fatal opioid overdose among former inmates.^{148–151} A 12-year cohort study in Ontario reported that formally incarcerated individuals were 20 more times likely to die from overdose than the general population.¹⁴⁹ A meta-analysis showed the overdose death was 27 times more likely for those formally incarcerated.¹⁵⁰ In order to mitigate post-release overdose following release, it is imperative to provide overdose prevention interventions, such as OAT, tailored to the needs of this vulnerable group upon their transition into the community.

2.5.5 Socioeconomic Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic

While the social and economic impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic have affected everyone, they are especially damaging for marginalized populations like those living with OUD. The pandemic has worsened socioeconomic vulnerabilities such as unemployment and unstable housing which are known to be risk factors for overdose. Thus, social and economic stressors stemming from the pandemic could increase overdose risk.¹⁵² Moreover, many individuals including those with OUD have received income assistance payments provided by governments to financially support individuals during the pandemic.^{153,154} As of September 2020, nearly 9 million Canadians have received the Canada Emergency Response Benefit (CERB).¹⁵⁵ Many of the income assistance payments distributed during the pandemic have been given out in a synchronous fashion (e.g. every week), however, there has been extensive research demonstrating the high prevalence of drug-related harms, including overdose, coinciding with synchronous income assistance among PWUD.¹⁵⁶ Anecdotal reports from outreach workers have stated that CERB has contributed to an increase in fatal overdoses during the pandemic¹⁵³. Future research should examine the associations between COVID-19-related synchronous income assistance payments and overdose risk, so policies are developed to mitigate any unintended harms.

2.6 Conclusion

Current research has identified a wide range of risk and protective factors for overdose related to biology, behaviour, treatment, harm reduction, and socioeconomic status. Over the years, the increasing prevalence of fentanyl in the illicit drug market has led to a significant change in the overdose risk environment for PWUD. From our review, we found that it remains unclear how factors previously identified in those using heroin (e.g. route of administration, OAT) are influencing overdose risk in those using fentanyl, and how novel fentanyl-related factors (e.g. fentanyl test strips, safe supply) are affecting overdose risk. Moreover, a number of commentaries and expert opinions have discussed potential COVID-19-related factors associated

with overdoses (e.g. changes to the illicit drug supply, disruptions to treatment services), but there is currently limited primary data linking the pandemic to the increase in overdoses. Altogether, the findings from our review indicate there is an urgent need for future studies to identify and characterize the risk and protective factors for overdose, especially in those using fentanyl and vulnerable to the effects of the pandemic.

Chapter 3: Methods

3.1 Study Aim

The primary aim of this cross-sectional pilot study was to investigate the risk and protective factors for non-fatal opioid overdose among individuals using street fentanyl during the COVID-19 pandemic. We sought to 1) examine the prevalence of overdose, 2) determine the associations between previously identified factors and overdose, and 3) determine the associations between novel fentanyl-related, COVID-19-related factors and overdose.

3.2 Study Setting, Recruitment, and Data Collection

This study was conducted in Vancouver, BC. Since the crisis was declared a public health emergency in 2016, Vancouver has had the highest rate of overdose deaths of any BC township.¹⁵⁷ Illicitly manufactured fentanyl has become extremely common in the street drug supply in BC – recent drug checking studies have found that 84.1% to 90.6% of 'heroin' samples in BC testing positive for fentanyl.^{20,21} During the pandemic, overdose mortality in BC has escalated to record highs as 2020 marked a record year for overdose deaths in BC.¹⁵⁷ The high prevalence of street fentanyl and recent unprecedented spike in overdose deaths make BC a particularly appropriate setting to examine the risk and protective factors for fentanyl-related overdose during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Recruitment for the study was originally anticipated to begin in the fall of 2019 at two housing facilities managed by Coast Mental Health, a BC non-profit organization which provides housing, support services, employment, and education services to approximately 5,500 tenants and clients, many of whom live with mental illness and substance use disorders.¹⁵⁸ The two housing facilities are St. Helen's Hotel, a single room occupancy hotel, and Pacific Coast

Apartments, a supportive housing unit. These two facilities have approximately 200 tenants in total, with high reported numbers of opioid overdose events. Unfortunately, due to insufficient resources and capacity of Coast Mental Health in the fall of 2019, the high rates of clients dying from overdoses, and the subsequent COVID-19 pandemic in March 2020, recruitment had to be put on hold until further notice.

Through an ongoing collaboration with the Department of Psychiatry at Vancouver General Hospital (VGH), our research team instead conducted the study at the hospital through the Complex Pain and Addiction Service (CPAS). CPAS is an inpatient consultation service at VGH which integrates the assessment and treatment of pain, substance use, and mental health disorders of admitted patients regardless of their medical condition. It is comprised of physicians from multiple disciplines including Family Medicine, Internal Medicine, Emergency Medicine, Pain Medicine, and Psychiatry. Patients on inpatient units at VGH are referred to CPAS physicians by their primary admitting medical or surgical team.

To be eligible for the study, patients had to be 19 years or older, have a current diagnosis of OUD, were COVID-19 negative, and were not showing any symptoms of COVID-19. CPAS physicians identified eligible participants. Once an eligible patient was identified, the physicians asked the patient for permission to be contacted by the research team which consisted of two graduate research assistants. If the patient gave permission to be contacted, a research assistant approached the patient, explained the study, obtained oral consent, and answered study questions they may have had.

Once consent was given, participants completed an interviewer-administered questionnaire which elicited information on overdose history, socio-demographics, substance use patterns, treatment history, harm reduction utilization, mental health, and physical health. Details

about the survey questions are elaborated on in 3.3 Survey Instrument. The data was collected through tablet computers on a web-based survey platform developed by InputHealth, a Canadian software company developing patient-centered health data management. All participants were provided with a \$10 CAD honourarium.

Recruitment at VGH was anticipated to begin in early March 2020, but due to the COVID-19 pandemic, a research curtailment order for all non-essential research was put in place at VCH facilities. On-site human subject research at VGH was able to resume in June 2020, and research resumption request for our study was approved in September 2020. Participants were recruited from October 2020 to February 2021. COVID-19 safety standards set by VCH Infection Prevention and Control, Public Health, the Provincial Medical Officer, and the BC Centre for Disease Control were followed for all study procedures. This study was approved by the Behavioural Research Ethics Board of the University of British Columbia (H19-02231).

3.3 Survey Instrument

The survey instrument questions on overdose risk and protective factors were developed through an iterative process based on reviewing the literature on opioid overdose (Chapter 2: Narrative Review) and gathering expert opinion from six clinician-scientists/clinicians involved in the care of PWUD in BC. The instrument includes questions on opioid overdose history, socio-demographics, substance use patterns, treatment history, harm reduction utilization, mental health, and physical health.

The time frame of all survey questions referred to events or behaviours in the previous six months before the participant's admittance to the hospital, unless specified otherwise. For example, the survey question on OAT was "Before your admittance to the hospital, were you receiving opioid agonist treatment in the past 6 months?" Face and content validity were established by incorporating feedback from the six clinician-scientists/clinicians and a psychometrician.

To assess history of opioid overdose, participants were asked "How many times have you experienced an opioid overdose in your life?" They were then asked, "How many times have you experienced an opioid overdose in 2020 and 2021?" and asked to specify which month they had overdosed. If the participant had overdosed in the past six months, they were asked whether they were hospitalized for any of them, why they think they overdosed, and whether they did anything to prevent futures ones from occurring. Our outcome variable for the study was non-fatal opioid overdose in the past six months (yes/no). The survey also assessed socio-demographic characteristics including age, gender, ethnicity, educational attainment, employment status, housing status, and correctional facility release.

For questions on substance use, participants were asked whether they used PO (medical use and non-medical use) and/or street opioids (defined as heroin, down, and fentanyl), and if so, what type of opioids they were (e.g. codeine, oxycodone, heroin, fentanyl), days used in an average month, average amount on a using day, whether they used them alone by themselves, main route of administration, and whether they used the opioids together other substances (e.g. stimulants, cannabis). Participants were also asked whether they used street fentanyl intentionally and/or unintentionally, whether and why they liked/disliked it. To assess the potential impact the COVID-19 pandemic has had on the illicit drug supply, participants were asked whether the pandemic made it difficult to get their opioid of choice (yes/no), and if so, what their opioid of choice was and what the difficulty was due to (open-ended question).

For questions on treatment history, participants were asked whether they were receiving OAT, and if so, what medication (buprenorphine/naloxone tablets, buprenorphine extended-release injection, methadone, slow-release morphine, injectable hydromorphone, and injectable diacetylmorphine), and how satisfied they were with the medication (five-point Likert scale). Participants were also asked whether the COVID-19 pandemic made it difficult to access OAT medication (yes/no), and whether they received any psychosocial treatment for their OUD.

Regarding questions on harm reduction utilization, participants were asked "Have you carried Naloxone/Narcan with you?" (yes/no) and "Have you used any of the following harm reduction supplies/services?" The answer choices to the latter question were harm reduction supplies other than Naloxone/Narcan (e.g. syringes, stericups, cookers), getting your drugs tested, and SCS; participants could tell us the type of supply/service if none of these aforementioned answer choices fit their response. Participants were then asked whether the COVID-19 pandemic made it difficult to assess any harm reduction supplies/services (yes/no), and if so, which ones were difficult to access. Participants were also asked whether they were receiving any safe supply medications, and if so, what type of medication, whether they have diverted it to obtain street drugs, and what it helped with (reducing withdrawal, craving, risk of overdose, exposure to illicit drug supply, exposure to COVID-19; no benefits; other benefits: please specify).

Mental illness history was ascertained with "Have you ever been diagnosed with a mental illness by a health profession?" This was followed by "Please specify the mental illness(es)." and for each illness, "Over the past six months, have you been treated for it with medication and/or psychotherapy by a health professional?" Self-harm, suicidal ideation, and suicide attempts were

gathered by asking the following: "Have you intentionally participated in any self-harm behaviours?" "Have you thought about killing yourself" "Have you evert tried killing yourself?" "Was this attempt in the past six months?" Early trauma experiences were assessed by the Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) questionnaire, which consists of ten items on child maltreatment and household challenges.¹⁵⁹

HIV and Hepatitis C were gathered by asking "Have you ever tested positive for HIV/Hepatitis C?" Chronic pain was ascertained with "Have you experienced chronic pain, that is pain that lasts three months or longer?" This was followed by, "Please rate the pain on a typical day (numeric scale of 1 - 10)." and "Please indicate where you most often experience this pain (head and neck, chest and abdomen, back, hands and/or feet, arms, legs, other: please specify)."

3.4 Data Analysis

Descriptive statistics, including frequencies, percentages, means, and medians, were calculated, and thematic analysis was used to analyse the responses for open-ended questions. All statistical analyses were conducted on IBM SPSS Statistics Version 27. Statistical significance was set at the level of p < 0.05.

A multivariable logistic regression model was built to determine the factors associated with non-fatal opioid overdose in the recent six months, which was as the binary outcome variable (yes/no). As a result of recruitment challenges due to the pandemic (research assistants not permitted to access COVID-19 triage units with eligible patients, COVID-19 outbreaks on the units where patients were recruited, patients leaving against medical advice), only 48 participants were recruited.

For our analysis, we examined participants who reported using street opioids (defined as heroin, down, and fentanyl) in the past six months, as the majority of opioid-related deaths in North America have been attributed to street opioids.^{1,3–5} As there were five participants who reported only using PO in the past six months and seven participants with more than 50% of missing data, the final sample size for our analysis was 36 cases.

Six binary candidate explanatory variables were selected based on findings from the narrative review and consultations with the clinician-scientists/clinicians: gender (male/female), history of opioid overdose (yes/no), suicidal ideation (yes/no), route of administration (injection/smoking), receiving OAT (yes/no), and receiving safe supply (yes/no). These factors were chosen from each of the substance use, treatment and harm reduction, psychiatric, and social and structural domains described in the narrative review, and have been found to be associated with opioid overdose in prior research.^{38,39,47,48,120,121,128,129,160,161} One of the 36 cases was missing data for the suicidal ideation variable, so 35 cases were used for the regression analysis. All six candidate explanatory variables were simultaneously entered into the regression analysis.

Chapter 4: Results

4.1 Socio-Demographic Characteristics

A total of 36 participants were included in the present study. All were inpatients with a current diagnosis of OUD, and reported using street fentanyl (knowingly and/or suspected) in the previous six months. The mean age was 41.17 years (SD: 10.44 years), with 20 males and 16 females. Half (n = 18) of the participants were white, 12 (33.33%) were indigenous, and the other six participants (16.67%) were Black/Hispanic/Multi-Race. Other socio-demographic characteristics are shown in Table 4.1.

¥ ¥	Frequency	Percentage
Age	Mean: 41.17 year	rs (SD: 10.44 years)
Gender		
Male	20	55.56%
Female	16	44.44%
Ethnicity		
White	18	50%
Indigenous	12	33.33%
Black	1	2.78%
Hispanic	1	2.78%
Multi-Race	4	11.11%
Released from correctional facility ^a		
Yes	2	5.56%
No	34	94.44%
Education		
Elementary/middle school (up to Grade 9)	5	13.89%
Some high school (Grade 10, 11)	5	13.89%
High school certificate (completed Grade 12)	10	27.78%
Post-secondary (e.g. technical school, trade school, college, university)	16	44.44%
Employment status ^a		
Student	1	3.03%
Employed for wages	6	18.18%
Self-employed	2	6.06%
Out of work and looking for work	6	18.18%
Out of work but not currently looking for work	8	24.24%

Table 4.1 Socio-Demographic Characteristics

	Frequency	Percentage
Employment status ^a		
Unable to work	10	30.30%
Housing status ^a		
Stable housing (owning or renting house/apartment)	13	36.11%
Non-stable housing (hotel, single room occupancy hotel, temporary	11	30.56%
stay at someone else's house/apartment, etc.)		
Shelter	4	11.11%
On the street (indoor public place, bus or train station, abandoned building, etc.)	5	13.89%
Institution (detox, nursing home, jail or prison, hospital, treatment or	1	2.78%
recovery residence, etc.)		
Stable and non-stable housing	1	2.78%
Shelter and on the street	1	2.78%
Satisfaction with housing status ^a		
Very satisfied	3	8.57%
Satisfied	9	25.71%
Neutral	2	5.71%
Dissatisfied	9	25.71%
Very dissatisfied	12	34.29%
Had significant intimate partner(s) ^a		
Yes	12	33.33%
No	24	66.67%
Relationship with intimate $partner(s)^a$ (n = 12)		
Very bad	3	25%
Bad	0	0%
Neutral	1	8.33%
Good	2	16.67%
Very good	5	41.67%
Have any children		
Yes	21	58.33%
No	14	38.89%
1NO	14	38.89%
Had pet(s) living with them ^a		
Yes	12	33.33%
No Refere to annuing sin months	24	66.67%

^aRefers to previous six months

Missing values account for frequencies and percentages which do not add up to 100%

4.2 Non-Fatal Opioid Overdose History

The vast majority, 75% (n = 27), reported a history of non-fatal opioid overdose. The 27

participants experienced a median of 6.50 lifetime overdoses (IQR: 11) - 12 participants reported

one to five overdoses, seven participants reported six to ten overdoses, and eight participants reported more than ten overdoses. Nearly half of the participants, 47.22% (n = 17), experienced an opioid overdose in the previous six months.

4.2.1 Circumstances of Recent Non-Fatal Opioid Overdose

Of the 17 participants who overdosed in the past 6 months, seven were hospitalized. When asked why they think they overdosed, the two most common reasons given were using more than intended (n = 6) and the drugs being too strong (n = 5). When asked whether they did anything to prevent future overdoses from happening, four said they did not do anything, three said they used harm reduction services/supplies, and three said they used smaller doses.

4.3 Substance Use

All 36 participants reported using street opioids (defined as fentanyl/heroin/down) in the past six months. 86.1% (n = 31) stated they used street fentanyl intentionally during this period. The remaining 13.9% (n = 5) said they used street fentanyl unintentionally. This meant that all 36 participants had used street fentanyl (regardless of their intention) in the past six months. Given that all participants reported using fentanyl and that recent drug checking studies have shown that the vast majority of 'heroin' in BC contains fentanyl, we refer to the street opioids participants used as fentanyl^{20,162,163}.

Both injection and smoking were common methods to use street fentanyl. Nearly half, 47.2% (n = 17), stated injection was their main route of administration, while slightly more than half, 52.8% (n = 19) stated smoking was their main route. Slightly more than half, 52.8% (n = 19), reported using stimulants (e.g. crystal meth, cocaine) together with fentanyl in the previous

six months. Most participants, 72.2% (n = 26) stated that the COVID-19 pandemic did not make it difficult to obtain fentanyl. Among the 10 who reported that the pandemic affected their ability to get fentanyl, nine said it was due to the cost, eight said it was due to the availability, and 6 said they were concerned with contracting COVID-19. Other substance use patterns and behaviors are shown in Table 4.2.

	Frequency	Percentage
Type of street opioid used ^a		
Heroin	2	5.56%
Fentanyl	13	36.11%
Down (Slang Term for Street Opioids)	8	22.22%
Heroin and Down	5	13.89%
Fentanyl and Down	5	13.89%
Heroin, Fentanyl, and Down	3	8.33%
Days used fentanyl in an average month ^a		
Daily	27	75%
Not daily	8	22.22%
Average amount of fentanyl on a using day ^a	Mean: 0.94 gran	ms (SD: 0.79 grams)
Used fentanyl alone ^a		
Yes	23	63.89%
No	13	36.11%
Used fentanyl intentionally ^a		
Yes	31	86.11%
No	5	13.89%
Used fentanyl unintentionally ^a		
Yes	21	60%
No	14	40%
Used prescription opioids (for non-OAT and non-safe supply purposes) with a doctor's prescription ^a		
Yes	12	33.33%
No	24	66.67%
Used prescription opioids without a doctor's prescription or in larger doses than prescribed ^a		
Yes	7	19.44%
No	29	80.56%

 Table 4.2 Substance Use Patterns and Behaviours

	Frequency	Percentage
Injected fentanyl into artery ^a		
Yes	12	33.33%
No	24	66.67%
Reused needles ^a		
Yes	18	50.0%
No	18	50.0%
Shared needles ^a		
Yes	5	13.89%
No	31	86.11%
Witnessed someone overdosing on opioids ^a		
Yes	8	22.22%
No	28	77.78%
Assessed own risk of experiencing opioid overdose ^a		
Very low risk	17	47.22%
Low risk	4	11.11%
Medium risk	4	11.11%
High risk	4	11.11%
Very high risk	6	16.67%

^aRefers to previous six months

Missing values account for frequencies and percentages which do not add up to 100%

4.3.1 Attitudes and Perspectives towards Fentanyl

When asked whether they liked anything about fentanyl, half of the participants (n = 18) replied with yes. The common reason (n = 9) was that fentanyl helped with pain relief, but it was unclear whether this was referring to physical and/or psychological pain. Eight participants said they liked the strength of fentanyl, while three said it helped them deal with their emotions/feelings/trauma. The vast majority, 74.1% (n = 25), reported that there was something they disliked about fentanyl. The most common aspect participants disliked about fentanyl was its strength. Five participants also stated its effects were too short, while three said it made them dope sick. When asked whether they were worried about a friend or someone they care about overdosing on fentanyl in the past six months, slightly more than half, 52.8% (n = 19) were worried, 8.3% (n = 3) were neutral, and 27.8% (n = 10) were not worried.

4.4 Treatment History and Harm Reduction Utilization

Around half, 55.6% (n = 20), were on OAT in the past six months. Methadone (n = 13) was the common medication, followed by buprenorphine/naloxone (n = 6) and slow-release oral morphine (n = 5). Patient satisfaction with OAT varied – seven were satisfied, six were neutral, and six were dissatisfied. A quarter (n = 5) of the 20 participants on OAT stated that COVID-19 made it difficult to access medications. The majority, 83.3% (n = 30), reported receiving no psychosocial treatment for their OUD.

The use of harm reduction services and supplies in the previous six months was high. More than three-quarters, 77.8% (n = 28), carried naloxone, while more than half, 66.7% (n = 24) reported using harm reduction supplies (other than naloxone, e.g. syringes, stericups/cookers). Half (n = 18) used supervised consumption sites, while drug checking (41.7%, n = 15) was a bit less common. More than a quarter, 30.6% (n = 11), reported that COVID-19 made it difficult to access harm reduction supplies and services. A few specifically stated that there were long line-ups to supervised consumption sites.

Most, 61.1% (n = 22), were not prescribed safe supply medications over the past 6 months. Among those prescribed these medications, nine were prescribed only oral hydromorphone, two were prescribed only sustained-release oral morphine, and three were prescribed both oral hydromorphone and sustained-release oral morphine. Further details on safe supply are described in Table 4.3.

	Frequency	Percentage
Type of safe supply medication prescribed ^a	<u> </u>	
Oral hydromorphone	9	25%
Sustained-release oral morphine	2	5.56%
Oral hydromorphone and Sustained-release oral morphine	3	8.33%
None	22	61.11%
Used prescribed oral hydromorphone ^a		
Yes	10	27.78%
No	25	69.44%
Used prescribed sustained-release oral morphine ^a		
Yes	5	13.89%
No	31	86.11%
Diverted oral hydromorphone ^a (n = 12)		
Yes	4	33.33%
No	6	50.00%
		20.0070
Diverted sustained-release oral morphine ^a (n = 5)		
Yes	0	0%
No	5	100%
Benefits of oral hydromorphone ^a (n = 12)		
Reduce withdrawal, craving	1	8.33%
Reduce exposure to illicit drug supply, COVID-19	1	8.33%
Reduce withdrawal, exposure to illicit drug supply, COVID-19	1	8.33%
Reduce withdrawal, craving, exposure to illicit drug supply, COVID-19	1	8.33%
Reduce withdrawal, risk of overdose, exposure to illicit drug supply, COVID-19	1	8.33%
Reduce craving, exposure to illicit drug supply, COVID-19	1	8.33%
Reduce withdrawal, craving, risk of overdose, exposure to illicit drug supply, COVID-19	2	16.67%
No benefits	3	25%
Benefits of sustained-release oral morphine ^a (n = 5)		
Reduce risk of overdose, exposure to illicit drug supply, exposure to COVID-19	1	20%
Reduce withdrawal, craving, risk of overdose, exposure to illicit drug supply, exposure to COVID-19	3	60%
No benefits	1	20%
Difficulty obtaining oral hydromorphone from physician/nurse practitioner ^a (n = 12)		
Yes	4	33.33%
No	7	58.33%

Table 4.3 Safe Supply

	Frequency	Percentage
Difficulty obtaining sustained-release oral morphine from		
physician/nurse practitioner ^a (n = 5)		
Yes	2	40%
No	3	60%

^aRefers to previous six months

Missing values account for frequencies and percentages which do not add up to 100%

4.5 Mental Health Characteristics

The lifetime prevalence of mental illness was high as 63.9% (n = 23) reported they have been diagnosed with a mental illness by a health professional. Depression (44.4%, n = 16), was the most common, followed by anxiety disorders (36.11%, n = 13). Other mental illnesses selfreported by participants were: bipolar disorder (n = 2), post-traumatic stress disorder (n = 5), borderline personality disorder (n = 2), and attention deficit disorder (n = 1). Only around a third (n = 7) of those reporting a lifetime diagnosis of mental illness received treatment in the previous 6 months.

Self-harm behaviours in the previous 6 months were reported by 22.9% (n = 8) of the participants. Suicidal ideation in the previous 6 months was a bit more common, 37.1% (n = 13). Nearly half, 47.2% (n = 17), stated they have attempted suicide, while 19.4% (n = 7) stated they have attempted suicide in the past 6 months. Other mental health characteristics are shown in Table 4.4.

Table 4.4 Mental Health Characteristics

	Frequency	Percentage
Experienced a stressful life event that has disrupted life in a major way ^a		
Yes	30	83.33%
No	6	16.67%
Regularly involved in meaningful activities ^a		
Yes	19	52.78%
No	17	47.22%
Contact with ^a		
Family members	9	25.0%
Friends	3	8.33%
Both family members and friends	18	50.0%
None	6	16.67%
Set goals for yourself in near future ^a		
Yes	26	74.29%
No	9	25.71%

^aRefers to previous six months

4.6 Adverse Childhood Experiences

The average score on the 10-item scale was 5.43 (SD = 2.87). Individual ACE items are

shown in Table 4.5.

Table 4.5 Adverse Childhood Experiences

	Frequency	Percentage
Parent or another adult in the household often swore, insulted, put down, or humiliated you		
Yes	21	63.64%
No	12	36.36%
Parent or another adult in the household pushed, grabbed, slapped, or threw something at you		
Yes	20	60.61%
No	13	39.39%
Adult or person at least 5 years older ever touched or fondled or had you touch their body in a sexual way		
Yes	11	33.33%
No	22	66.67%
Often felt that no one in your family loved you or thought you were special		
Yes	24	72.73%
No	9	27.27%

	Frequency	Percentage
Often felt that you didn't have enough to eat, had to wear dirty		
clothes, and had no one to protect you		
Yes	13	39.39%
No	20	60.61%
Parents ever separated or divorced		
Yes	25	73.53%
No	9	26.47%
Mother or stepmother was often pushed, grabbed, slapped, or had thrown something at her		
Yes	14	41.18%
No	20	58.82%
Lived with anyone who was a problem drinker or alcoholic or who used street drugs		
Yes	25	73.53%
No	9	26.47%
Household member was depressed or mentally ill or attempted suicide		
Yes	16	47.06%
No	18	52.94%
Household member went to prison		
Yes	12	36.36%
No	21	63.64%

4.7 Physical Health Characteristics

The prevalence of HIV was low, 8.3% (n = 3), while around half, 47.2% (n = 17), stated they have tested positive for Hepatitis C. Slightly more than half, 55.6% (n = 20), experienced chronic pain in the past six months. Among these participants, their median score on the numeric rating scale was 9.0 (IQR: 3.0).

4.8 Multivariable Regression Model

A multivariable logistic regression model was built to ascertain the effects of gender, history of opioid overdose, suicidal ideation, main route of administration of fentanyl, receiving OAT, and receiving safe supply on the likelihood that participants experienced a non-fatal opioid overdose in the previous six months. The logistic regression model was statistically significant, $\chi^2(6) = 23.46$, p < .05. The model explained 65.3% (Nagelkerke R²) of the variance in non-fatal opioid overdose and correctly classified 77.1% of cases. Sensitivity was 81.3%, specificity was 73.7%, positive predictive value was 72.2%, and negative predictive value was 82.4%. Of the six predictor variables, three were statistically significant: gender, history of opioid overdose, and suicidal ideation. Males had 27.94 times higher odds to experience a recent opioid overdose. Individuals with had a history of opioid overdose had 103.19 times higher odds to experience a recent opioid overdose, and individuals reporting suicidal ideation had 32.08 times higher odds to experience a recent opioid overdose. Table 4.6 summarizes the results of the multivariable logistic regression.

	Unstandardized	Standard	Wald	Degree	р	Adjusted	95% CI
	Beta	Error	vv aru	of	Р	Odds Ratio	<i>)))()<i>()()()()()()()<i>()()()<i>()()()()()<i>()()()()<i>()()()()()()<i>()()()()()<i>()()()<i>()()()<i>()()()<i>()()()<i>()()<i>()()()<i>()()<i>()()<i>()()<i>()()<i>()()<i>()()<i>()()<i>()()<i>()()<i>()()<i>()()<i>()()<i>()()<i>()()<i>()()<i>()()<i>()()<i>()()<i>()()<i>()()<i>()(), <i>()()<i>()(), <i>()()<i>()(), <i>()(), <i>(), <i>()(), <i>(), <i>()(), <i>()(), </i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i></i>
	Deta	LIIU		Freedom		(AOR)	
Gender	3.33	1.55	4.64	1	0.03	27.94	1.35 -
(Male vs.							578.06
Female)							
History of	4.64	2.19	4.49	1	0.03	103.19	1.42 -
Opioid OD							7514.02
(Yes vs. No)							
Suicidal	3.47	1.66	4.37	1	0.04	32.08	1.24 -
Ideation ^a							827.45
(Yes vs. No)							
Route of	-1.98	1.23	2.61	1	0.11	0.14	0.01 -
Administration ^a							1.53
(Injection vs.							
Smoking)							
Received OAT ^a	-1.90	1.20	2.45	1	0.12	0.15	0.01 -
(Yes vs. No)							1.59
Received Safe	-0.69	1.17	0.34	1	0.56	0.50	0.05 -
Supply ^a							5.01
(Yes vs. No)							

Table 4.6 Multivariable Logistic Regression Model for Experiencing a Recent Non-Fatal Opioid Overdose among Individuals who use Street Fentanyl (n = 35)

^aRefers to previous six months

Chapter 5: Discussion

5.1 Overview

In our pilot study, we examined the prevalence and risk, protective factors of opioid overdose among individuals using street fentanyl during the COVID-19 pandemic. We found a high prevalence of recent non-fatal opioid overdose, with nearly half (47.2%) reporting having overdosed in the previous six months. Gender, history of opioid overdose, and suicidal ideation were identified as risk factors for recent non-fatal opioid overdose. Route of administration, receiving OAT, and receiving safe supply were not statistically significantly associated with overdose.

5.2 Prevalence of Recent Non-Fatal Opioid Overdose

The overdose prevalence in our pilot study exceeds that of recent studies conducted among PUWD in BC and US settings with high fentanyl prevalence before the pandemic. In a cross-sectional study of 316 street-recruited PWUO in Maryland, US, 35.1% of participants overdosed in the past year.¹⁶⁴ In another cross-sectional study of 425 PWID in West Virginia, US, 42.6% overdosed in the past six months.¹⁶⁵ A study in Vancouver examined illicit drug overdose prevalence among 999 PWUD from December 2016 to May 2017, and found that 16.9% had overdosed in the previous six months.¹⁶⁶ Another study of 303 clients of BC harm reduction facilities from May to August 2018 reported that 26.7% experienced an overdose in the previous six months.¹⁶⁷

While these studies had slight differences in study designs and samples (e.g. illicit drug overdose, PWUD) than ours (e.g. opioid overdose, people using street opioids), it is nevertheless concerning to see that such a high percentage of our participants having recently overdosed. This

finding may be reflective of the synergetic effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, increasing toxicity of BC's illicit drug supply, and changing user preferences towards fentanyl. With the majority of our participants (86.1%) reporting the intentional use of street fentanyl, this provides support that a growing number of PWUD are purposely seeking out fentanyl and preferring it over other opioids.^{42,167} In addition, fentanyl has become increasingly pervasive in BC – fentanyl was detected in 29% of illicit drug deaths in 2015 and in 85-86% of deaths from 2018-2020.¹⁶⁸ During the pandemic from April 2020 to January 2021, deaths with extreme fentanyl concentrations (>50ug/L) increased by 64% compared to the 15-month period leading up to the pandemic. 2020 was also a record year for overdose calls to BC Emergency Health Services.^{169,170} Expert opinions and commentaries have noted that potential reasons for the increases in overdoses are more individuals using drugs alone due to social isolation, difficulty accessing care, and changes in drug supply due to border closures and travel restrictions – further studies are needed to closely investigate the pathways linking the COVID-19 pandemic to the increasing overdoses.¹⁷¹

5.3 Risk and Protective Factors for Recent Non-Fatal Opioid Overdose

The rapid proliferation of fentanyl in the illicit drug market has undoubtedly created considerable changes in the overdose risk environment for those who use street opioids due to the high potency of fentanyl. However, little is known how the risk, protective factors previously identified in those using heroin are influencing the risk of overdose in those using fentanyl. It is also not known how novel factors related to fentanyl use and the pandemic are affecting overdose risk among fentanyl-using individuals. From our pilot study, we found that certain factors studied in the pre-fentanyl-era literature (male gender, history of overdose, and suicidal ideation) have persisted as risk factors for fentanyl-related overdose, while other previously identified factors (route of administration and OAT) were not significantly associated with fentanyl-related overdose. Safe supply, an innovation introduced in response to the toxic drug supply and COVID-19 pandemic, was also found to be not significantly associated with overdose. In the following sections, we will be discussing these factors in the context of previous research and the dual public health emergencies.

5.3.1 Gender

Male gender was significantly and positively associated with recent non-fatal opioid overdose (Table 4.6, AOR = 27.94, 95% CI = 1.35-578.06, p = 0.03). This finding is line with other studies which have found a higher risk of overdose among male PWUO compared to female PWUO.^{10,128,129,172,173} Additionally, with the majority (76.4%) of recent overdoses occurring among our male participants, this finding appears to reflect that men in BC have been disproportionately affected by the overdose crisis, especially during the pandemic. Since March 2020, the illicit drug death rate in BC has dramatically increased among men, while the death rate among women has remained relatively constant from before to now during the pandemic.¹⁵⁷ From January to September 2020, most (77%) opioid-related deaths in Canada occurred among men.¹

While opioid overdoses have historically been more common among men, there is evidence suggesting that the gender gap in overdose deaths has widened further during the current fentanyl crisis in North America. In a study examining opioid overdose deaths in Delaware, a US state which has experienced an increase in fentanyl-involved overdose deaths in the past decade (fentanyl detected in 15.7% of opioid overdose deaths in 2013, increased to 76.2% in 2017), the male-to-female death rate increased from 1.9 in 2013 to 2.6 in 2017.¹⁷⁴ Similarly in BC, the male-to-female illicit drug death rate has increased from 3.2 in 2013 to 4.5 in 2017 (fentanyl detected in 15% of illicit drug deaths in 2013, increased to 82% in 2017).^{157,168} Future studies should investigate the underlying factors driving this demographic shift in opioid overdoses.

Despite the high prevalence of overdoses in men, research examining the gender differences in opioid overdoses has been limited. Some studies and commentaries have reported that increased likelihood of injection drug use in male PWUD, masculinity norms, such as impulsivity and unwillingness to seek medical help, could lead to heightened overdose risk among men.^{130–134} A better understanding of the relationship between male gender and overdose, and male-specific interventions are urgently needed to prevent more men from dying of overdose.

5.3.2 History of Opioid Overdose

History of opioid overdose was significantly and positively associated with recent nonfatal opioid overdose (Table 4.6, AOR = 103.19, 95% CI = 1.42-7514.02, p = 0.03). This finding is consistent with the existing literature as numerous studies have demonstrated increased risks of both subsequent non-fatal and fatal overdoses after an overdose.^{175–179} These studies examined the association between non-fatal overdose and subsequent overdose among individuals using heroin and other street drugs, but to our knowledge, there have been no studies examining this association among those using fentanyl. Our study is therefore the first to demonstrate that overdose history is a strong risk factor for subsequent overdose in fentanyl-using individuals. This is not an unexpected finding given that OUD is a chronic, relapsing disorder.¹⁸⁰ However, what is not known is whether relapse rates differ between those using heroin and those using fentanyl. If rates differ, the association between non-fatal overdose and subsequent overdose could differ between these individuals.

A study, which followed 2317 PWID for a median of 61 months, found that an increasing number of non-fatal overdoses was associated with a greater risk of subsequent fatal overdose, indicating a dose-response relationship.¹⁷⁵ If such a relationship holds true in our sample, it would be concerning as there were a high number of overdoses (median: 6.50, IQR: 11) in those who overdosed. To conclude, our findings underscore the importance of screening individuals for a history of overdose in order to identify those with a high risk of continued overdose. These individuals should be engaged with overdose prevention strategies to reduce the risks of subsequent overdose-related harms and mortality.

5.3.3 Suicidal Ideation

Suicidal ideation was significantly and positively associated with recent non-fatal opioid overdose (Table 4.6, AOR = 32.08, 95% CI = 1.24-827.45, p = 0.04). This finding corroborates the results of previous studies showing that suicidal ideation increases the risk of overdose risk. ^{120,121} Hakansson et al¹²¹ found that suicidal ideation increased the odds of non-fatal overdose (OR = 1.82; 95% CI = 1.43-2.32) in a sample of 1113 opioid-using Swedish criminal justice clients. In a longitudinal study of 858 street youth, Richer et al¹²⁰ found that those with suicidal ideation were nearly twice as likely to have experienced a non-fatal overdose (AOR = 1.88; 95% CI = 1.23-2.54). It should be noted that suicidal ideation was common in our study, with 37.1% of participants reporting suicidal ideation in the past six months. Previous studies have estimated the lifetime prevalence of suicidal ideation to be around 50% in individuals who use heroin.^{182,183} There also has been growing evidence suggesting that suicidal ideation may underlie many overdose events.¹⁸⁴ Bohnert et al¹⁸⁵ found that suicidal intent was involved in 39% of non-fatal overdoses involving opioids or sedatives among patients in the ED. Connery et al¹¹⁸ reported even higher rates, reporting that 59% of 54 individuals who used heroin/fentanyl had expressed some desire to die before their most recent overdose. Given our findings and the limited literature in this research area, further studies are needed to more closely examine the relationship between suicidal ideation and overdose. Opioid-using individuals with suicidal ideation need to be identified, so they can be provided with effective, integrated suicide and overdose prevention interventions.

Furthermore, participants in our study were asked whether they experienced suicidal ideation in the past six months, which was a period of time during the COVID-19 pandemic. It is possible that the suicidal ideation may have, in part, stemmed from the pandemic, but we did not ask participants about this. A nationally representative survey of Canadian adults found that 6.4% of participants had suicidal ideation as a result of the pandemic, and another Canadian study found that in those with previous psychiatric history, suicidal ideation significantly increased during the pandemic compared to pre-pandemic estimates.^{187,188} However, to date, there has been no literature which has specifically assessed pandemic-related suicidal ideation among PWUD. Future research could examine whether suicidal ideation due to the pandemic could lead to increased overdose risk.

5.3.4 Route of Administration

Route of administration was not significantly associated with recent non-fatal opioid overdose (Table 4.6, AOR = 0.14, 95% CI = 0.01-1.53, p = 0.11). This non-significant result may be due to the small sample size of our pilot study.

In the current literature, a number of studies have demonstrated an association between route of administration and overdose, finding injection drug use to convey the highest risk of overdose due to rapid entry into the bloodstream.¹⁶⁰ For instance, in a Spanish study of 2,064 individuals who used heroin daily, the odds of overdosing was 4.1 times greater for those who injected heroin compared to those who smoked heroin.¹⁶⁰ In another study of 2,766 PWUD (primarily heroin, amphetamine use), the adjusted hazard for all-cause mortality was lower for smokers than injectors (AHR = 0.52, 95% CI = 0.28-0.97).¹⁸⁹

While such studies have shown a relationship between overdose and the route of administration of heroin and other street drugs, there have been no studies comparing the risk of overdose between different routes of administration of street fentanyl and analogues. Given the higher potency of fentanyl than heroin and unpredictability of the illicit drug supply, the risk of overdose may still be quite high with consumption routes which have been traditionally deemed to be safer than injection, such as smoking and snorting.^{34,166} In a case series, individuals who smoked fentanyl patches described the effects of smoking fentanyl similar to and as strong as injecting heroin.¹⁹⁰ Additionally, smoking is the most common of consumption involved in BC's illicit drug overdose deaths, suggesting that there is a high risk of overdose even smoking.³⁷ These findings, along with our non-significant results, underscore the need for future studies to examine how the different consumption routes of fentanyl affect the overdose risks of PWUD.

5.3.5 Opioid Agonist Treatment

OAT was not significantly associated with recent non-fatal opioid overdose (Table 4.6, AOR = 0.15, 95% CI = 0.01–1.59, p = 0.12). Similar to the other non-significant results, this result may be due to low statistical power arising from the small sample size.

Our finding is in contrast to the current literature as there have been decades of research demonstrating the effectiveness of OAT in decreasing overdose and mortality among those who use heroin and non-prescribed opioids.^{191,192} However, few studies have evaluated the outcomes of OAT among those who use fentanyl. Anecdotal, unpublished reports have discussed the increased likelihood of precipitated withdrawal during buprenorphine induction among fentanyl-using individuals, which may lead to poor retention and increased risk of overdose.^{63–66} Other studies have shown that OAT has remained effective among PWUD exposed to fentanyl, reporting similar retention rates between fentanyl-positive and heroin-positive patients, and high abstinence rates for those retained on OAT.^{68–70}

We only found one study examining the association between overdose and OAT among individuals who use fentanyl. In a sample of 432 PWUO, 40% of whom reported ever knowingly used fentanyl, any past or current methadone treatment was protective against overdose (AOR = 0.32, 95% CI = 0.11-0.96), but buprenorphine treatment was not associated with overdose risk.⁴¹ The researchers of this study postulated that their findings are due to the lower retention rates for buprenorphine relative to methadone.⁴¹

Compared to this study, the sample of our pilot was comprised of all fentanyl-using individuals, and we looked at whether participants were receiving any OAT in the past six months. Due to small cell sizes, we were unable to assess how different forms of OAT (methadone, buprenorphine/naloxone, slow-release oral morphine) affected overdose risk in our

regression model. Additionally, retention in OAT was not captured in our study – among the participants receiving OAT in the six-month period, some may have consistently taken the medication while others may have not. Retention in OAT has been shown to be associated with reductions in overdose and improvements in health outcomes and extensively in the literature.^{193,194} The various nuanced aspects of OAT, such as medication type and retention, should be assessed in future studies, in order to better understand the outcomes of OAT among those using fentanyl.

5.3.6 Safe Supply

Safe supply was not significantly associated with recent non-fatal opioid overdose (Table 4.6, AOR = 0.50, 95% CI = 0.05–5.01, p = 0.56). Despite the non-significant result, our pilot study is among the first to examine the outcomes of the government-sanctioned safe supply program in BC. The program was established in March 2020 in response to the dual public health emergencies of the opioid overdose epidemic and COVID-19 pandemic.⁹⁴ It is thought that safe supply medications reduce overdose risk because they provide PWUD a more consistent and safer supply of opioids than the potent and unpredictable street supply of fentanyl. Currently, there has been no published literature on the impacts of the program. However, there is some preliminary evidence supporting safe supply. In a qualitative study of 42 PWUD receiving hydromorphone tablets through a pilot safe supply program in Vancouver which has operated since January 2019, clients reported reduced illicit drug use, decreased overdose risk, and improved health and wellbeing.¹⁶¹

In commentaries and anecdotal reports, concerns regarding safe supply have been raised by physicians in BC and also in Ontario, where safe supply prescribing is practiced within pilot

programs – PWUD may not use the medications and divert them to procure fentanyl, as the medications are not potent enough to meet their opioid requirements.^{98,99} In our study, we interestingly found more than a third (Table 4.3, 36.3%) of those receiving safe supply reported diverting medications, however, more than half (Table 4.3, 54.5%) stated the medications were beneficial in relieving symptoms of their OUD. Given the currently limited evidence base for safe supply and its potential benefits and harms, studies are urgently needed to evaluate the outcomes of BC's program.

5.4 Limitations

As a result of research restrictions imposed by the COVID-19 pandemic, the sample size of our pilot study was small. Our findings should thus be interpreted as preliminary. Also due to the limited sample size, we were able to include only a few explanatory variables in our regression model to assess their potential associations with recent non-fatal opioid overdose. The variables not included in our model were reported descriptively in Chapter 4: Results.

Since the data was collected cross-sectionally, the temporal relationships between risk factors and overdose could not be determined. Additionally, as data was self-reported, our findings are subjected to recall bias. Lastly, as our study was only comprised of inpatients at one acute care hospital in Vancouver, their overall health may have been poorer than other individuals with OUD, which may have increased their likelihood of experiencing a recent opioid overdose. So, our findings may not be generalizable to other individuals at risk of opioid overdose, including those who have other substances as their drug of choice (e.g. stimulant-users unknowingly taking fentanyl), and those in other settings (e.g. outpatient clinic, rural areas).

5.5 Future Directions

To strengthen our preliminary findings, we will be continuing with recruitment and data collection at VGH. We are also planning to expand the study to three other sites: the Anne Vogel Clinic (a community outpatient clinic in Richmond, BC providing care to patients with OUD), the Burnaby Centre for Mental health and Addiction (an inpatient tertiary care facility for adults with severe, concurrent mental health and substance use disorders), and an OAT clinic in Squamish, BC. This will enable us to generate more generalizable findings and make comparisons of overdose prevalence and the risk, protective factors for overdose between the different samples. Of note, as much of the research and policies on the overdose crisis in Canada have focused on large urban settings, our research in Squamish will shed light on the unique circumstances and needs of PWUD in smaller rural settings.¹⁹⁵

Future studies could utilize longitudinal designs to attempt determining the causal relationships between the risk, protective factors and overdose, allowing us to better understand the impacts of street fentanyl and the COVID-19 pandemic on overdose risk. Moreover, as we excluded patients who were COVID-19 symptomatic and/or positive, future studies could investigate whether PWUD with a COVID-19 diagnosis are at increased risk of overdose given that chronic lung diseases increase fatal opioid overdose risk among PWUD.¹⁹⁶

5.6 Conclusion

To our knowledge, this is the first study to investigate the risk and protective factors for opioid overdose among individuals using street fentanyl during the COVID-19 pandemic.

With all participants having recently used fentanyl and the majority reporting the intentional use of fentanyl, these findings indicate that patterns of use among PWUD have

rapidly shifted towards fentanyl. The dynamics of fentanyl use have been suggested to involve both supply-led factors (e.g. lower costs for dealers) and demand-led factors (e.g. preference for fentanyl over other drugs) – studies are needed to determine how the pandemic has disrupted drug markets, and how attitudes and behaviours around fentanyl have changed among PWUD.¹⁹⁷ Such research will generate evidence to guide clinicians who work with the increasing number of individuals using fentanyl.

Our findings on the risk factors for overdose have important clinical implications in preventing further overdoses in this high-risk population. Clinicians should screen for suicidal ideation and overdose history, and provide effective suicidal and overdose prevention interventions. As PWUD may underestimate their risk for overdose, frontline workers and clinicians should engage with PWUD to increase awareness and facilitate their management of overdose risk factors.¹⁹⁸

Furthermore, our findings suggest that risk and protective factors previously identified in individuals who use heroin should be re-examined as their contributions to overdose risk may be different in individuals who use fentanyl. Novel factors related to fentanyl and the COVID-19 pandemic, should be further investigated to examine their roles in overdose risk. This urgently needed area of research will enable clinicians to better identify individuals at risk of overdose, and inform the development of tailored interventions and policies to improve health outcomes in this vulnerable population.

Confronting the opioid overdose crisis will thus require comprehensive, evidence-based approaches which are resistant against the rise of fentanyl and the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, and address the multifaceted array of biological, psychosocial, and structural factors associated with opioid overdose.

References

- Special Advisory Committee on the Epidemic of Opioid Overdoses. Opioid- and Stimulant-related Harms in Canada. Ottawa: Public Health Agency of Canada.
- 2. Ciccarone D. The triple wave epidemic: Supply and demand drivers of the US opioid overdose crisis. *Int J Drug Policy*. 2019;71:183-188. doi:10.1016/j.drugpo.2019.01.010
- 3. Prescription Opioid Overdose Death Maps | Drug Overdose | CDC Injury Center.
- 4. Heroin Overdose Data | Drug Overdose | CDC Injury Center.
- 5. Synthetic Opioid Overdose Data | Drug Overdose | CDC Injury Center.
- Overdose Deaths Accelerating During COVID-19 | CDC Online Newsroom | CDC. https://www.cdc.gov/media/releases/2020/p1218-overdose-deaths-covid-19.html. Accessed April 19, 2021.
- 7. Statistical Reports on Deaths in British Columbia Province of British Columbia.
- STOOVÉ MA, DIETZE PM, JOLLEY D. Overdose deaths following previous non-fatal heroin overdose: Record linkage of ambulance attendance and death registry data. *Drug Alcohol Rev.* 2009;28(4):347-352. doi:10.1111/j.1465-3362.2009.00057.x
- Warner-Smith M, Darke S, Day C. Morbidity associated with non-fatal heroin overdose.
 Addiction. 2002;97(8):963-967. doi:10.1046/j.1360-0443.2002.00132.x
- Warner-Smith M, Darke S, Lynskey M, Hall W. Heroin overdose: Causes and consequences. *Addiction*. 2001;96(8):1113-1125. doi:10.1046/j.1360-0443.2001.96811135.x
- Public Health Agency of Canada. Opioid-Related Poisoning and Anoxic Brain Injury in Canada: A Descriptive Analysis of Hospitalization Data - Canada.Ca.; 2021. https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/substance-use/problematic-prescription-

drug-use/opioids/opioid-related-hospitalizations-anoxic-brain-injury.html. Accessed May 4, 2021.

- Fox LM, Hoffman RS, Vlahov D, Manini AF. Risk factors for severe respiratory depression from prescription opioid overdose. *Addiction*. 2018;113(1):59-66. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/add.13925
- Miller M, Barber CW, Leatherman S, et al. Prescription opioid duration of action and the risk of unintentional overdose among patients receiving opioid therapy. *JAMA Intern Med*. 2015;175(4):608-615. doi:10.1001/jamainternmed.2014.8071
- Bonnie RJ, Ford MA, Phillips JK. Trends in Opioid Use, Harms, and Treatment. In: *Pain Management and the Opioid Epidemic*. ; 2017. doi:10.17226/24781
- Hibbs J, Perper J, Winek CL. An Outbreak of Designer Drug—Related Deaths in Pennsylvania. JAMA J Am Med Assoc. 1991;265(8):1011-1013. doi:10.1001/jama.1991.03460080081037
- Kennedy BC, Kerr MC, Pauly T. Factors Associated with Nonfatal Overdose During a Public Health Emergency. *Subst Use Misuse*. 2018;54(1):39-45. doi:10.1080/10826084.2018.1491051
- Mathew N, Wong, S.H. J, Reinhard MK. An inside look at BC's illicit drug market during the COVID-19 pandemic. *B C Med J*. 2021;63(1):9-13.
- Jalal H, Burke DS. Carfentanil and the rise and fall of overdose deaths in the United States. *Addiction*. September 2020:add.15260. doi:10.1111/add.15260
- Ciccarone D. Fentanyl in the US heroin supply: A rapidly changing risk environment. *Int J Drug Policy*. 2017;46:107-111. doi:10.1016/j.drugpo.2017.06.010
- 20. Tupper KW, McCrae K, Garber I, Lysyshyn M, Wood E. Initial results of a drug checking

pilot program to detect fentanyl adulteration in a Canadian setting. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2018;190:242-245. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2018.06.020

- Karamouzian M, Dohoo C, Forsting S, McNeil R, Kerr T, Lysyshyn M. Evaluation of a fentanyl drug checking service for clients of a supervised injection facility, Vancouver, Canada. *Harm Reduct J.* 2018;15(1):46. doi:10.1186/s12954-018-0252-8
- European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction, Europol. *EU Drug Markets:* Impact of COVID-19.; 2020. doi:10.2810/19284
- Tyndall M. Safer opioid distribution in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. *Int J Drug Policy*. 2020;3(5):e218-e225.
- Morin KA, Acharya S, Eibl JK, Marsh DC. Evidence of increased Fentanyl use during the COVID-19 pandemic among opioid agonist treatment patients in Ontario, Canada. *Int J Drug Policy*. 2021;90:103088. doi:10.1016/j.drugpo.2020.103088
- 25. Bellum S. Real Teens Ask About Speedballs. National Institute on Drug abuse (NIDA).
- Park JN, Weir BW, Allen ST, Chaulk P, Sherman SG. Fentanyl-contaminated drugs and non-fatal overdose among people who inject drugs in Baltimore, MD. *Harm Reduct J*. 2018;15(1):34. doi:10.1186/s12954-018-0240-z
- Hoots B, Vivolo-Kantor A, Seth P. The rise in non-fatal and fatal overdoses involving stimulants with and without opioids in the United States. *Addiction*. 2020;115(5):946-958. doi:10.1111/add.14878
- Das LT, Kutscher E. Stimulant Use Disorders in the United States—Is Another Epidemic on The Horizon? *JAMA Heal Forum*. 2020;1(12):e201486. doi:10.1001/jamahealthforum.2020.1486
- 29. Park JN, Rashidi E, Foti K, Zoorob M, Sherman S, Alexander GC. Fentanyl and fentanyl

analogs in the illicit stimulant supply: Results from U.S. drug seizure data, 2011–2016. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2021;218:108416. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2020.108416

- 30. Tori ME, Larochelle MR, Naimi TS. Alcohol or Benzodiazepine Co-involvement With Opioid Overdose Deaths in the United States, 1999-2017. *JAMA Netw open*.
 2020;3(4):e202361. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.2361
- 31. Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction. Adulterants, Contaminants and Co-Occurring Substances in Drugs on the Illegal Market in Canada (CCENDU Bulletin).;
 2020.
- 32. Tobias S, Shapiro AM, Wu H, Ti L. Xylazine Identified in the Unregulated Drug Supply in British Columbia, Canada. *Can J Addict*. 2020;11(3):28-32. doi:10.1097/CXA.000000000000089
- 33. Ti L, Tobias S, Maghsoudi N, et al. Detection of synthetic cannabinoid adulteration in the unregulated drug supply in three Canadian settings. *Drug Alcohol Rev.* 2020. doi:10.1111/dar.13237
- 34. European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction. *Preventing Opioid Overdose Deaths with Take-Home Naloxone.*; 2016. doi:10.2810/357062
- Jozaghi E, Buxton JA, Thomson E, Marsh S, Gregg D, Bouchard M. Building New Approaches to Risk Reduction With Social Networks and People Who Smoke Illegal Drugs From Participatory Community-Based Research. *Int J Qual Methods*. 2018;17(1):160940691877124. doi:10.1177/1609406918771247
- 36. Jarlais DCD, Arasteh K, Feelemyer J, et al. From Long-Term Injecting to Long-Term Non-Injecting Heroin and Cocaine Use: The Persistence of Changed Drug Habits. *J Subst Abuse Treat*. 2016;71:48-53. doi:10.1016/j.jsat.2016.08.015

- BC Coroners Service. Illicit Drug Toxicity Deaths in B.C. 2010-2020. 2020:1-24.
 https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/birth-adoption-death-marriage-anddivorce/deaths/coroners-service/statistical/mode-of-consumption.pdf. Accessed April 19, 2021.
- Darke S, Marel C, Mills KL, et al. Patterns and correlates of non-fatal heroin overdose at 11-year follow-up: Findings from the Australian Treatment Outcome Study. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2014;144:148-152. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2014.09.001
- Kinner SA, Milloy MJ, Wood E, Qi J, Zhang R, Kerr T. Incidence and risk factors for non-fatal overdose among a cohort of recently incarcerated illicit drug users. *Addict Behav.* 2012;37(6):691-696. doi:10.1016/j.addbeh.2012.01.019
- 40. National Institute on Drug Abuse. Overdose Death Rates.
- 41. Kline A, Mattern D, Cooperman N, et al. Opioid overdose in the age of fentanyl: Risk factor differences among subpopulations of overdose survivors. *Int J Drug Policy*. 2021;90. doi:10.1016/j.drugpo.2020.103051
- 42. Morales KB, Park JN, Glick JL, Rouhani S, Green TC, Sherman SG. Preference for drugs containing fentanyl from a cross-sectional survey of people who use illicit opioids in three United States cities. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2019;204:107547.
 doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2019.107547
- 43. Dietze PM, Peacock A. Illicit drug use and harms in Australia in the context of COVID-19 and associated restrictions: Anticipated consequences and initial responses. *Drug Alcohol Rev.* 2020;39(4):297-300. doi:10.1111/dar.13079
- 44. Hamilton I. What will covid-19 mean for the illegal drug market and people dependent upon it? BMJ Opinion.

- 45. Nielsen S, Larance B, Degenhardt L, Gowing L, Kehler C, Lintzeris N. Opioid agonist treatment for pharmaceutical opioid dependent people. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev*. 2016;2016(5). doi:10.1002/14651858.CD011117.pub2
- 46. Canadian Research initiative in Substance Misuse. *National Guidline for the Clinical Management of Opioid Use Disorder.*; 2018.
- 47. Kerr T, Fairbairn N, Tyndall M, et al. Predictors of non-fatal overdose among a cohort of polysubstance-using injection drug users. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2007;87(1):39-45.
- Thylstrup B, Seid AK, Tjagvad C, Hesse M. Incidence and predictors of drug overdoses among a cohort of >10,000 patients treated for substance use disorder. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2020;206:107714. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2019.107714
- Bruneau J, Ahamad K, Goyer MÈ, et al. Management of opioid use disorders: A national clinical practice guideline. *Cmaj.* 2018;190(9):E247-E257. doi:10.1503/cmaj.170958
- 50. Kumar R, Viswanath O, Saadabadi A. Buprenorphine. 2017.
- Kelty E, Hulse G. Fatal and non-fatal opioid overdose in opioid dependent patients treated with methadone, buprenorphine or implant naltrexone. *Int J Drug Policy*. 2017;46:54-60. doi:10.1016/j.drugpo.2017.05.039
- Marteau D, McDonald R, Patel K. The relative risk of fatal poisoning by methadone or buprenorphine within the wider population of England and Wales. *BMJ Open*. 2015;5(5):e007629. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2015-007629
- 53. Socías ME, Wood E. Evaluating slow-release oral morphine to narrow the treatment gap for opioid use disorders. *Ann Intern Med.* 2018;168(2):141-142. doi:10.7326/M17-2373
- 54. Bond AJ, Reed KD, Beavan P, Strang J. After the randomised injectable opiate treatment trial: Post-trial investigation of slow-release oral morphine as an alternative opiate

maintenance medication. *Drug Alcohol Rev.* 2012;31(4):492-498. doi:10.1111/j.1465-3362.2011.00353.x

- 55. Ferri M, Minozzi S, Bo A, Amato L. Slow-release oral morphine as maintenance therapy for opioid dependence. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2013;2013(6).
 doi:10.1002/14651858.CD009879.pub2
- Jegu J, Gallini A, Soler P, Montastruc JL, Lapeyre-Mestre M. Slow-release oral morphine for opioid maintenance treatment: A systematic review. *Br J Clin Pharmacol*. 2011;71(6):832-843. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2125.2011.03923.x
- Klimas J, Gorfinkel L, Giacomuzzi SM, et al. Slow release oral morphine versus methadone for the treatment of opioid use disorder. *BMJ Open*. 2019;9(4):e025799. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2018-025799
- 58. British Columbia Centre on Substance Use. *Guidance for Injectable Opioid Agonist Treatment for Opioid Use Disorder*.
- Bahji A, Bajaj N. Opioids on Trial: A Systematic Review of Interventions for the Treatment and Prevention of Opioid Overdose. *Artic CJAM Can J Addict Med.* 2018. doi:10.1097/CXA.00000000000013
- Kimmel S, Bach P, Walley AY. Comparison of Treatment Options for Refractory Opioid Use Disorder in the United States and Canada: a Narrative Review. *J Gen Intern Med*. 2020;35(8):2418-2426. doi:10.1007/s11606-020-05920-0
- Bohnert ASB, Lin LA. It is time to recognize that synthetic opioids are not going away.
 Addiction. January 2021:add.15376. doi:10.1111/add.15376
- 62. Socias ME, Wood E, Dong H, et al. Slow release oral morphine versus methadone for opioid use disorder in the fentanyl era (pRESTO): Protocol for a non-inferiority

randomized clinical trial. *Contemp Clin Trials*. 2020;91:105993. doi:10.1016/j.cct.2020.105993

- Silverstein SM, Daniulaityte R, Martins SS, Miller SC, Carlson RG. "Everything is not right anymore": Buprenorphine experiences in an era of illicit fentanyl. *Int J Drug Policy*. 2019;74:76-83. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2019.09.003
- 64. Antoine D, Huhn AS, Strain EC, et al. Method for Successfully Inducting Individuals Who Use Illicit Fentanyl Onto Buprenorphine/Naloxone. *Am J Addict*. 2021;30(1):83-87. doi:10.1111/ajad.13069
- Danilewitz M, McLean M. High-dose buprenorphine for treatment of high potency opioid use disorder. *Drug Alcohol Rev.* 2020;39(2):135-137. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/dar.13017
- Baca-Atlas MH, Williams JB. Treatment of Opioid Use Disorder Attributed to Fentanyl With High-Dose Buprenorphine: A Case Report. *J Clin Psychopharmacol*. 2021;41(1). https://journals.lww.com/psychopharmacology/Fulltext/2021/01000/Treatment_of_Opioid _Use_Disorder_Attributed_to.21.aspx.
- 67. Carroll JJ, Marshall BDL, Rich JD, Green TC. Exposure to fentanyl-contaminated heroin and overdose risk among illicit opioid users in Rhode Island: A mixed methods study. *Int J Drug Policy*. 2017;46:136-145. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2017.05.023
- Wakeman SE, Chang Y, Regan S, et al. Impact of Fentanyl Use on Buprenorphine Treatment Retention and Opioid Abstinence. *J Addict Med.* 2019;13(4):253-257. doi:10.1097/ADM.00000000000486
- 69. Stone AC, Carroll JJ, Rich JD, Green TC. Methadone maintenance treatment among patients exposed to illicit fentanyl in Rhode Island: Safety, dose, retention, and relapse at

6 months. Drug Alcohol Depend. 2018;192:94-97. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2018.07.019

- 70. Stone AC, Carroll JJ, Rich JD, Green TC. One year of methadone maintenance treatment in a fentanyl endemic area: Safety, repeated exposure, retention, and remission. *J Subst Abuse Treat.* 2020;115:108031. doi:10.1016/j.jsat.2020.108031
- Pearce LA, Min JE, Piske M, et al. Opioid agonist treatment and risk of mortality during opioid overdose public health emergency: Population based retrospective cohort study.
 BMJ. 2020;368. doi:10.1136/bmj.m772
- Dunlop A, Lokuge B, Masters D, et al. Challenges in maintaining treatment services for people who use drugs during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Harm Reduct J*. 2020;17(1):26. doi:10.1186/s12954-020-00370-7
- Russell C, Ali F, Nafeh F, Rehm J, LeBlanc S, Elton-Marshall T. Identifying the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic on service access for people who use drugs (PWUD): A national qualitative study. *J Subst Abuse Treat*. 2021;129:108374. doi:10.1016/j.jsat.2021.108374
- Ali F, Russell C, Nafeh F, Rehm J, LeBlanc S, Elton-Marshall T. Changes in substance supply and use characteristics among people who use drugs (PWUD) during the COVID-19 global pandemic: A national qualitative assessment in Canada. *Int J Drug Policy*. 2021:103237. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2021.103237
- Impacts of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Substance Use Treatment Capacity in Canada.;
 2020. https://www.ccsa.ca/impacts-covid-19-pandemic-substance-use-treatment-capacitycanada. Accessed April 19, 2021.
- Mellis AM. Factors Associated With Drug Overdoses During the COVID-19 Pandemic. J Addict Med. 2021;Publish Ah.

- Davis CS, Samuels EA. Continuing increased access to buprenorphine in the United States via telemedicine after COVID-19. *Int J Drug Policy*. August 2020:102905.
 doi:10.1016/j.drugpo.2020.102905
- 78. Samuels EA, Clark SA, Wunsch C, et al. Innovation During COVID-19: Improving Addiction Treatment Access. *J Addict Med*. 2020;14(4). https://journals.lww.com/journaladdictionmedicine/Fulltext/2020/08000/Innovation_Durin g_COVID_19_Improving_Addiction.9.aspx.
- 79. British Columbia Centre on Substance Use. A Guideline for the Clinical Management of Opioid Use Disorder.; 2017. http://www.bccsu.ca/care-guidance-publications/. Accessed April 19, 2021.
- Stancliff S, Phillips BW, Maghsoudi N, Joseph H. Harm Reduction: Front Line Public Health. *J Addict Dis.* 2015;34(2-3):206-219. doi:10.1080/10550887.2015.1059651
- McDonald R, Strang J. Are take-home naloxone programmes effective? Systematic review utilizing application of the Bradford Hill criteria. *Addiction*. 2016;111(7):1177-1187. doi:10.1111/add.13326
- Chimbar L, Moleta Y. Naloxone Effectiveness: A Systematic Review. J Addict Nurs. 2018;29(3):167-171. doi:10.1097/JAN.00000000000230
- Moe J, Godwin J, Purssell R, et al. Naloxone dosing in the era of ultra-potent opioid overdoses: A systematic review. *Can J Emerg Med*. 2020;22(2):178-186.
 doi:10.1017/cem.2019.471
- 84. Carpenter J, Murray BP, Atti S, Moran TP, Yancey A, Morgan B. Naloxone Dosing After Opioid Overdose in the Era of Illicitly Manufactured Fentanyl. *J Med Toxicol*. 2020;16(1):41-48. doi:10.1007/s13181-019-00735-w

- Barry CL, Sherman SG, Stone E, et al. Arguments supporting and opposing legalization of safe consumption sites in the U.S. *Int J Drug Policy*. 2019;63:18-22. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2018.10.008
- 86. Stoltz J-A, Wood E, Small W, et al. Changes in injecting practices associated with the use of a medically supervised safer injection facility. *J Public Health (Bangkok)*.
 2007;29(1):35-39. doi:10.1093/pubmed/fdl090
- Madah-Amiri D, Skulberg AK, Braarud A-C, et al. Ambulance-attended opioid overdoses: An examination into overdose locations and the role of a safe injection facility. *Subst Abus*. 2019;40(3):383-388. doi:10.1080/08897077.2018.1485130
- Milloy MJS, Kerr T, Mathias R, et al. Non-fatal overdose among a cohort of active injection drug users recruited from a supervised injection facility. *Am J Drug Alcohol Abuse*. 2008;34(4):499-509. doi:10.1080/00952990802122457
- Scheim AI, Bouck Z, Tookey P, et al. Supervised consumption service use and recent nonfatal overdose among people who inject drugs in Toronto, Canada. *Int J Drug Policy*. 2021;87:102993. doi:10.1016/j.drugpo.2020.102993
- Laing MK, Tupper KW, Fairbairn N. Drug checking as a potential strategic overdose response in the fentanyl era. *Int J Drug Policy*. 2018;62:59-66. doi:10.1016/j.drugpo.2018.10.001
- 91. Krieger MS, Yedinak JL, Buxton JA, et al. High willingness to use rapid fentanyl test strips among young adults who use drugs. *Harm Reduct J*. 2018;15(1):7. doi:10.1186/s12954-018-0213-2
- 92. Weicker NP, Owczarzak J, Urquhart G, et al. Agency in the fentanyl era: Exploring the utility of fentanyl test strips in an opaque drug market. *Int J Drug Policy*. 2020;84:102900.

doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2020.102900

- 93. Radfar SR, De Jong CAJ, Farhoudian A, et al. Reorganization of Substance Use Treatment and Harm Reduction Services during the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Global Survey. *medRxiv*. 2020.
- BC Centre on Substance Use. Risk Mitigation in the Context of Dual Public Health Emergencies. 2020. doi:10.1002/9781119549789.ch5
- 95. Canadian Association of People who Use Drugs. Safe Supply Concept Document.; 2019.
- 96. Ivsins A, Boyd J, Mayer S, et al. Barriers and facilitators to a novel low-barrier hydromorphone distribution program in Vancouver, Canada: a qualitative study. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2020;216:108202. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2020.108202
- 97. Ivsins A, Boyd J, Mayer S, et al. "It's Helped Me a Lot, Just Like to Stay Alive": a Qualitative Analysis of Outcomes of a Novel Hydromorphone Tablet Distribution Program in Vancouver, Canada. *J Urban Heal*. 2021;98(1):59-69. doi:10.1007/s11524-020-00489-9
- Bromley LA. Problems with hydromorphone prescribing as a response to the opioid crisis.
 CMAJ. 2020;192(9):E219-E220. doi:10.1503/cmaj.74065
- Willows M, Brasch J, Sobey P, Tanguay R, Martell D. Is All "Safe Supply" Safe? *Can J Addict*. 2020;11(1):30-31. doi:10.1097/CXA.0000000000000079
- 100. CBC News. Safe drug supply program still not reaching enough people in B.C., say advocates.https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/british-columbia/bc-safe-supply-drugprescription-one-year-1.5964963. Published 2021. Accessed April 19, 2021.
- University of British Columbia. ADDRESSING THE DUAL PUBLIC HEALTH CRISES OF COVID-19 AND OVERDOSE.

- 102. Nosyk B, Slaunwhite A, Urbanoski K, et al. Evaluation of Risk Mitigation Measures for People With Substance Use Disorders to Address the Dual Public Health Crises of COVID-19 and Overdose in British Columbia: A Mixed-Methods Study Protocol. *Res Sq.* 2021. doi:10.21203/rs.3.rs-125015/v1
- 103. Jones CM, McCance-Katz EF. Co-occurring substance use and mental disorders among adults with opioid use disorder. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2019;197:78-82. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2018.12.030
- 104. Public Health Agency of Canada. Opioid-Related Harms and Mental Disorders in Canada: A Descriptive Analysis of Hospitalization Data - Canada.Ca.; 2021. https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/substance-use/problematic-prescriptiondrug-use/opioids/data-surveillance-research/opioid-related-hospitalizations-mentaldisorders.html#fig1. Accessed May 4, 2021.
- 105. Astals M, Domingo-Salvany A, Buenaventura CC, et al. Impact of substance dependence and dual diagnosis on the quality of life of heroin users seeking treatment. *Subst Use Misuse*. 2008;43(5):612-632. doi:10.1080/10826080701204813
- 106. Bogdanowicz KM, Stewart R, Broadbent M, et al. Double trouble: Psychiatric comorbidity and opioid addiction-All-cause and cause-specific mortality. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2015;148:85-92. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2014.12.025
- 107. Nam E, Matejkowski J, Lee S. Racial/Ethnic Differences in Contemporaneous Use of Mental Health and Substance Use Treatment Among Individuals Experiencing Both Mental Illness and Substance Use Disorders. *Psychiatr Q*. 2017;88(1):185-198. doi:10.1007/s11126-016-9444-0
- 108. Cacciola JS, Alterman AI, Rutherford MJ, McKay JR, Mulvaney FD. The relationship of

psychiatric comorbidity to treatment outcomes in methadone maintained patients. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2001;61(3):271-280. doi:10.1016/S0376-8716(00)00148-4

- 109. Drake RE, Mueser KT, Brunette MF. Management of persons with co-occurring severe mental illness and substance use disorder: program implications. *World Psychiatry*. 2007;6(3):131-136. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18188429. Accessed May 4, 2021.
- 110. Prince JD. Correlates of Opioid Use Disorders among People with Severe Mental Illness in the United States. *Subst Use Misuse*. 2019;54(6):1024-1034. doi:10.1080/10826084.2018.1559192
- 111. Fendrich M, Becker J, Hernandez-Meier J. Psychiatric symptoms and recent overdose among people who use heroin or other opioids: Results from a secondary analysis of an intervention study. *Addict Behav Reports*. 2019;10:100212. doi:10.1016/j.abrep.2019.100212
- Bartoli F, Carrà G, Brambilla G, et al. Association between depression and non-fatal overdoses among drug users: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2014;134(1):12-21. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2013.10.007
- Pabayo R, Alcantara C, Kawachi I, Wood E, Kerr T. The role of depression and social support in non-fatal drug overdose among a cohort of injection drug users in a Canadian setting. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2013;132(3):603-609.
 doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2013.04.007
- 114. Novak P, Feder KA, Ali MM, Chen J. Behavioral health treatment utilization among individuals with co-occurring opioid use disorder and mental illness: Evidence from a national survey. J Subst Abuse Treat. 2019;98:47-52. doi:10.1016/j.jsat.2018.12.006

- 115. Darke S, Ross J, Marel C, et al. Patterns and correlates of attempted suicide amongst heroin users: 11-year follow-up of the Australian treatment outcome study cohort.
 Psychiatry Res. 2015;227(2-3):166-170. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2015.04.010
- 116. Maloney E, Degenhardt L, Darke S, Nelson EC. Are non-fatal opioid overdoses misclassified suicide attempts? Comparing the associated correlates. *Addict Behav*. 2009;34(9):723-729. doi:10.1016/j.addbeh.2009.04.011
- Bohnert ASB, Roeder K, Ilgen MA. Unintentional overdose and suicide among substance users: A review of overlap and risk factors. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2010;110(3):183-192. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2010.03.010
- 118. Connery HS, Taghian N, Kim J, et al. Suicidal motivations reported by opioid overdose survivors: A cross-sectional study of adults with opioid use disorder. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2019;205:107612. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2019.107612
- Bergmans Y, Gordon E, Eynan R. Surviving moment to moment: The experience of living in a state of ambivalence for those with recurrent suicide attempts. *Psychol Psychother Theory, Res Pract.* 2017;90(4):633-648. doi:10.1111/papt.12130
- 120. Richer I, Bertrand K, Vandermeerschen J, Roy É. A prospective cohort study of non-fatal accidental overdose among street youth: The link with suicidal ideation. *Drug Alcohol Rev.* 2013;32(4):398-404. doi:10.1111/dar.12003
- 121. Hakansson A, Schlyter F, Berglund M. Factors associated with history of non-fatal overdose among opioid users in the Swedish criminal justice system. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2008;94(1-3):48-55. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2007.10.014
- 122. Williams JR, Girdler S, Williams W, Cromeens MG. The Effects of Co-Occurring Interpersonal Trauma and Gender on Opioid Use and Misuse. *J Interpers Violence*.

February 2020:088626051990030. doi:10.1177/0886260519900309

- 123. Usher K, Bhullar N, Jackson D. Life in the pandemic: Social isolation and mental health. J Clin Nurs. 2020;29(15-16):2756-2757. doi:10.1111/jocn.15290
- 124. Canadian Centre on Substance Use and Addiction. *Impacts of the COVID-19 Pandemic on People Who Use Substances: What We Heard.*; 2020.
- 125. Yazdi K, Fuchs-Leitner I, Rosenleitner J, Gerstgrasser NW. Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Patients With Alcohol Use Disorder and Associated Risk Factors for Relapse. *Front Psychiatry*. 2020;11:620612. doi:10.3389/fpsyt.2020.620612
- 126. SAMHSA. Demographic Risk Factors for Opioid Overdose.
- 127. KFF. Opioid Overdose Deaths by Gender | KFF. https://www.kff.org/other/stateindicator/opioid-overdose-deaths-bygender/?dataView=1¤tTimeframe=0&selectedDistributions=male--female-total&sortModel=%7B%22colId%22:%22Location%22,%22sort%22:%22asc%22%7D.
 Published 2021. Accessed April 20, 2021.
- 128. Havens JR, Oser CB, Knudsen HK, et al. Individual and network factors associated with non-fatal overdose among rural Appalachian drug users. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2011;115(1):107-112. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2010.11.003
- 129. Britton PC, Wines JD, Conner KR. Non-fatal overdose in the 12 months following treatment for substance use disorders. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2010;107(1):51-55. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2009.09.005
- 130. National Institute on Drug Abuse (NIDA). Sex and Gender Differences in Substance Use.;
 2020. https://www.drugabuse.gov/publications/research-reports/substance-use-in-women/sex-gender-differences-in-substance-use. Accessed April 19, 2021.

- 131. Galdas PM, Cheater F, Marshall P. Men and health help-seeking behaviour: Literature review. J Adv Nurs. 2005;49(6):616-623. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2648.2004.03331.x
- 132. Bardwell G, Kerr T, McNeil R. The Opioid Overdose Epidemic and the Urgent Need for Effective Public Health Interventions That Address Men Who Use Drugs Alone. Am J Mens Health. 2019;13(3). doi:10.1177/1557988319859113
- 133. Silver ER, Hur C. Gender differences in prescription opioid use and misuse: Implications for men's health and the opioid epidemic. *Prev Med (Baltim)*. 2020;131:105946.
 doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2019.105946
- Darcy C. Making the invisible visible: Masculinities and men's illicit recreational drug use. *Irish J Sociol.* 2018;26(1):5-24. doi:10.1177/0791603517735772
- Pieretti S, Di Giannuario A, Di Giovannandrea R, et al. Gender differences in pain and its relief. *Ann Ist Super Sanita*. 2016;52(2):184-189.
- Bodnar RJ, Kest B. Sex differences in opioid analgesia, hyperalgesia, tolerance and withdrawal: central mechanisms of action and roles of gonadal hormones. *Horm Behav*. 2010;58(1):72-81.
- 137. Park TW, Lin LA, Hosanagar A, Kogowski A, Paige K, Bohnert ASB. Understanding risk factors for opioid overdose in clinical populations to inform treatment and policy. *J Addict Med.* 2016;10(6):369-381.
- 138. Zubieta J-K, Dannals RF, Frost JJ. Gender and age influences on human brain mu-opioid receptor binding measured by PET. *Am J Psychiatry*. 1999;156(6):842-848.
- 139. Lippold KM, Jones CM, Olsen EO, Giroir BP. Racial/Ethnic and Age Group Differences in Opioid and Synthetic Opioid–Involved Overdose Deaths Among Adults Aged ≥18 Years in Metropolitan Areas — United States, 2015–2017. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly

Rep. 2019;68(43):967-973. doi:10.15585/mmwr.mm6843a3

- 140. Alberta Health, AFNIGC. Opioids and Substances of Misuse among First Nations People in Alberta.; 2017.
- 141. First Nations Health Authority. *Overdose Data and First Nations in BC Preliminary Findings.*; 2017.
- 142. Fraser Health Authority. Chief Medical Health Officer's Report 2019.; 2020.
- 143. van Draanen J, Tsang C, Mitra S, Karamouzian M, Richardson L. Socioeconomic marginalization and opioid-related overdose: A systematic review. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2020;214:108127. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2020.108127
- 144. BC Government Coroners Service. Illicit Drug Toxicity Deaths in BC.; 2011.
- Brunner E, Marmot M. Social organization, stress, and health. In: *Social Determinants of Health*. Oxford University Press; 2009. doi:10.1093/acprof:oso/9780198565895.003.02
- 146. Dasgupta N, Beletsky L, Ciccarone D. Opioid Crisis: No Easy Fix to Its Social and Economic Determinants. *Am J Public Health*. 2018;108(2):182-186. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2017.304187
- 147. Joudrey PJ, Khan MR, Wang EA, et al. A conceptual model for understanding post-release opioid-related overdose risk. *Addict Sci Clin Pract*. 2019;14(1):17. doi:10.1186/s13722-019-0145-5
- 148. Binswanger IA, Stern MF, Deyo RA, et al. Release from Prison A High Risk of Death for Former Inmates. *N Engl J Med*. 2007;356(2):157-165. doi:10.1056/nejmsa064115
- 149. Kouyoumdjian FG, Kiefer L, Wobeser W, Gonzalez A, Hwang SW. Mortality over 12 years of follow-up in people admitted to provincial custody in Ontario: a retrospective cohort study. *C Open*. 2016;4(2):E153-E161. doi:10.9778/cmajo.20150098

- 150. Binswanger IA, Blatchford PJ, Mueller SR, Stern MF. Mortality after prison release:
 Opioid overdose and other causes of death, risk factors, and time trends from 1999 to
 2009. Ann Intern Med. 2013;159(9):592-600. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-159-9-20131105000005
- 151. Mital S, Wolff J, Carroll JJ. The relationship between incarceration history and overdose in North America: A scoping review of the evidence. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2020;213:108088. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2020.108088
- 152. Cowan E, Khan MR, Shastry S, Edelman EJ. Conceptualizing the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on people with opioid use disorder: an application of the social ecological model. *Addict Sci Clin Pract.* 2021;16(1):4. doi:10.1186/s13722-020-00210-w
- 153. Macmadu A, Rich JD. Commentary on Richardson et al.: Strategies to mitigate payment-coincident drug-related harms are urgently needed. *Addiction*. 2021;116(3):546-547.
 doi:10.1111/add.15325
- 154. Naccarato N, Wacker N, Gagnon L. Opioid Crisis: A Qualitative Analysis of Financial Influences and Addiction. *Divers Res Heal J.* 2021;4(1):16. doi:10.28984/drhj.v4i2.321
- 155. Employment and Social Development Canada. Government of Canada introduces legislation to support Canadians through Recovery Benefits and extend access to funds for emergency measures. Government of Canada.
- 156. Richardson L, Dong H, Kerr T, Milloy M, Hayashi K. Drug-related harm coinciding with income assistance payments: results from a community-based cohort of people who use drugs. *Addiction*. 2021;116(3):536-545. doi:10.1111/add.15182
- 157. BC Coroners Service. Illicit drug toxicity deaths in BC: January 1st, 2011-February 28st,
 2021. March 2021:21. https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/birth-adoption-death-marriage-

and-divorce/deaths/coroners-service/statistical/illicit-drug.pdf. Accessed April 19, 2021.

- 158. Coast Mental Health | Compassion | Courage | Recovery.https://www.coastmentalhealth.com/. Accessed May 8, 2021.
- 159. Felitti VJ, Anda RF, Nordenberg D, et al. Relationship of childhood abuse and household dysfunction to many of the leading causes of death in adults: The Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) Study. Am J Prev Med. 1998;14(4):245-258.
- 160. Teresa Brugal M, Barrio G, De La Fuente L, Regidor E, Royuela L, Suelves JM. Factors associated with non-fatal heroin overdose: Assessing the effect of frequency and route of heroin administration. *Addiction*. 2002;97(3):319-327. doi:10.1046/j.1360-0443.2002.00058.x
- 161. Ivsins A, Boyd J, Mayer S, et al. "It's Helped Me a Lot, Just Like to Stay Alive": a
 Qualitative Analysis of Outcomes of a Novel Hydromorphone Tablet Distribution
 Program in Vancouver, Canada. J Urban Heal. 2020. doi:10.1007/s11524-020-00489-9
- 162. Karamouzian M, Dohoo C, Forsting S, McNeil R, Kerr T, Lysyshyn M. Evaluation of a fentanyl drug checking service for clients of a supervised injection facility, Vancouver, Canada. *Harm Reduct J*. 2018;15(1):46. doi:10.1186/s12954-018-0252-8
- 163. Giang V, Thulien M, McNeil R, Sedgemore K, Anderson H, Fast D. Opioid agonist therapy trajectories among street entrenched youth in the context of a public health crisis. *SSM - Popul Heal*. 2020;11:100609. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmph.2020.100609
- 164. Latkin CA, Dayton L, Davey-Rothwell MA, Tobin KE. Fentanyl and Drug Overdose: Perceptions of Fentanyl Risk, Overdose Risk Behaviors, and Opportunities for Intervention among People who use Opioids in Baltimore, USA. *Subst Use Misuse*. 2019;54(6):998-1006. doi:10.1080/10826084.2018.1555597

- 165. Ahmad NJ, Allen ST, White RH, et al. Correlates of recent nonfatal overdose among people who inject drugs in West Virginia. *Harm Reduct J*. 2021;18(1):22. doi:10.1186/s12954-021-00470-y
- 166. Brar R, Grant C, DeBeck K, et al. Changes in drug use behaviors coinciding with the emergence of illicit fentanyl among people who use drugs in Vancouver, Canada. Am J Drug Alcohol Abuse. 2020;46(5):1-7. doi:10.1080/00952990.2020.1771721
- 167. Karamouzian M, Papamihali K, Graham B, et al. Known fentanyl use among clients of harm reduction sites in British Columbia, Canada. *Int J Drug Policy*. 2020;77. doi:10.1016/j.drugpo.2020.102665
- BC Coroners Service. Illicit Drug Toxicity: Type of Drug Data. 2021:1-6.
 http://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/safety/public-safety/death-investigation/statistical-.
 Accessed April 19, 2021.
- BC Emergency Health Services. 2020 Overdose Numbers.; 2020.
 http://www.bcehs.ca/health-info/public-health/2020-overdose-numbers. Accessed April 19, 2021.
- 170. British Columbia Centre for Disease Control. Overdose Response Indicators. Provincial Health Services Authority. http://www.bccdc.ca/health-professionals/datareports/overdose-response-indicators#OPS. Published 2020. Accessed April 19, 2021.
- 171. Nguyen T, Buxton JA. Pathways between COVID-19 public health responses and increasing overdose risks: A rapid review and conceptual framework. *Int J Drug Policy*. 2021:103236. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugpo.2021.103236
- 172. Darke S, Hall W. Heroin Overdose: Research and Evidence-Based Intervention. *J Urban Heal*. 2003;80(2):189-200. doi:10.1093/jurban/jtg022

- 173. Kline A, Mattern D, Cooperman N, et al. Opioid overdose in the age of fentanyl: Risk factor differences among subpopulations of overdose survivors. *Int J Drug Policy*. 2021;90. doi:10.1016/j.drugpo.2020.103051
- 174. Eeckhaut MCW, Wagner J, Neitzke-Spruill L, Walker R, Anderson TL. Is the Gender Gap in Overdose Deaths (Still) Decreasing? An Examination of Opioid Deaths in Delaware, 2013–2017. *J Stud Alcohol Drugs*. 2020;81(1):68-73. doi:10.15288/jsad.2020.81.68
- 175. Caudarella A, Dong H, Milloy MJ, Kerr T, Wood E, Hayashi K. Non-fatal overdose as a risk factor for subsequent fatal overdose among people who inject drugs. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2016;162:51-55. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2016.02.024
- 176. Stoové MA, Dietze PM, Jolley D. Overdose deaths following previous non-fatal heroin overdose: Record linkage of ambulance attendance and death registry data. *Drug Alcohol Rev.* 2009;28(4):347-352. doi:10.1111/j.1465-3362.2009.00057.x
- 177. Winters DE, Brandon-Friedman R, Yepes G, Hinckley JD. Systematic review and metaanalysis of socio-cognitive and socio-affective processes association with adolescent substance use. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2021;219:108479. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2020.108479
- 178. Kinner SA, Milloy MJ, Wood E, Qi J, Zhang R, Kerr T. Incidence and risk factors for non-fatal overdose among a cohort of recently incarcerated illicit drug users. *Addict Behav.* 2012;37(6):691-696. doi:10.1016/j.addbeh.2012.01.019
- 179. Coffin PO, Tracy M, Bucciarelli A, Ompad D, Vlahov D, Galea S. Identifying Injection Drug Users at Risk of Nonfatal Overdose. *Acad Emerg Med*. 2007;14(7):616-623. doi:10.1197/j.aem.2007.04.005
- 180. Dydyk AM, Jain NK, Gupta M. Opioid Use Disorder. StatPearls Publishing; 2021.

http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/31985959. Accessed April 19, 2021.

- 181. Wines JD, Saitz R, Horton NJ, Lloyd-Travaglini C, Samet JH. Overdose after detoxification: A prospective study. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2007;89(2):161-169. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2006.12.019
- 182. Rossow I, Lauritzen G. Balancing on the edge of death: suicide attempts and lifethreatening overdoses among drug addicts. *Addiction*. 1999;94(2):209-219.
- 183. Vingoe L, Welch S, Farrell M, et al. Heroin overdose among a treatment sample of injecting drug misusers: accident or suicidal behaviour? J Subst Use. 1999;4(2):88-91.
- 184. Olfson M, Rossen LM, Wall MM, Houry D, Blanco C. Trends in Intentional and Unintentional Opioid Overdose Deaths in the United States, 2000-2017. JAMA - J Am Med Assoc. 2019;322(23):2340-2342. doi:10.1001/jama.2019.16566
- 185. Bohnert ASB, Walton MA, Cunningham RM, et al. Overdose and adverse drug event experiences among adult patients in the emergency department. *Addict Behav*. 2018;86:66-72. doi:10.1016/j.addbeh.2017.11.030
- 186. Connery HS, Taghian N, Kim J, et al. Suicidal motivations reported by opioid overdose survivors: A cross-sectional study of adults with opioid use disorder. *Drug Alcohol Depend*. 2019;205:107612. doi:10.1016/j.drugalcdep.2019.107612
- 187. Jenkins EK, McAuliffe C, Hirani S, et al. A portrait of the early and differential mental health impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic in Canada: Findings from the first wave of a nationally representative cross-sectional survey. *Prev Med (Baltim)*. 2021;145. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2020.106333
- 188. Robillard R, Daros AR, Phillips JL, et al. Emerging New Psychiatric Symptoms and the Worsening of Pre-existing Mental Disorders during the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Canadian

Multisite Study: Nouveaux symptômes psychiatriques émergents et détérioration des troubles mentaux préexistants pendanturant la pandémie de la COVID-19: une étude canadienne multisite. *Can J Psychiatry*. January 2021:070674372098678. doi:10.1177/0706743720986786

- Onyeka IN, Basnet S, Beynon CM, Tiihonen J, Föhr J, Kauhanen J. Association between routes of drug administration and all-cause mortality among drug users. *J Subst Use*. 2016;21(6):559-565. doi:10.3109/14659891.2015.1112847
- 190. Kimergård A, Dunne J, Bøgen A, Hindersson P, Breindahl T. Characteristics of opioidmaintained clients smoking fentanyl patches: The importance of confirmatory drug analysis illustrated by a case series and mini-review. *Drug Test Anal.* 2018;10(6):917-926. doi:https://doi.org/10.1002/dta.2397
- 191. Velander JR. Suboxone: Rationale, science, misconceptions. *Ochsner J.* 2018;18(1):23-29. doi:10.1043/TOJ-17-0095
- 192. CAMH Knowledge Exchange. Overview of methadone maintenance treatment. Portico. https://www.porticonetwork.ca/web/knowledgex-archive/amh-specialists/overview-mmt. Published 2009. Accessed April 19, 2021.
- 193. Blanco C, Volkow ND. Management of opioid use disorder in the USA: present status and future directions. *Lancet*. 2019;393(10182):1760-1772. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)33078-2
- 194. Socías ME, Dong H, Wood E, et al. Trajectories of Retention in Opioid Agonist Therapy and Overdose Risk During a Community-Wide Overdose Epidemic in a Canadian Setting. *Am J Prev Med.* 2021;60(1):57-63. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2020.07.006
- 195. Bardwell G, Lappalainen L. The need to prioritize research, policy, and practice to address

the overdose epidemic in smaller settings in Canada. *Can J Public Heal*. 2021. doi:10.17269/s41997-021-00504-9

- 196. Leece P, Cavacuiti C, Macdonald EM, et al. Predictors of Opioid-Related Death During Methadone Therapy. *J Subst Abuse Treat*. 2015;57:30-35. doi:10.1016/j.jsat.2015.04.008
- 197. Mars SG, Rosenblum D, Ciccarone D. Illicit fentanyls in the opioid street market: desired or imposed? *Addiction*. 2019;114(5):774-780. doi:https://doi.org/10.1111/add.14474
- 198. Wilder CM, Miller SC, Tiffany E, Winhusen T, Winstanley EL, Stein MD. Risk factors for opioid overdose and awareness of overdose risk among veterans prescribed chronic opioids for addiction or pain. *J Addict Dis*. 2016;35(1):42-51.